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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Welcome to the

          3  Parks and Recreation Committee. I am sorry I got

          4  here late. I had an appointment that I couldn't

          5  reschedule, so I was hoping to be only 15 minutes,

          6  but the FDR didn't cooperate.

          7                 We are holding a hearing, an

          8  oversight hearing on the status of lifeguards and

          9  I've gotten many calls through my Policy Analysts

         10  where my numerous communities and union leaders

         11  think this meeting is called because of them. That

         12  is not the case.

         13                 This meeting is called, number one,

         14  to go over the status of the lifeguards, to respond

         15  to a letter from one of my colleagues who is not on

         16  the Committee, and thirdly, it's the prerogative of

         17  the Chair to hold an oversight committee.

         18                 So, that being the case, I'm pleased

         19  to have Deputy Commissioner, First Deputy

         20  Commissioner, let me get your title right, Liam

         21  Kavanagh, with me, with us, to discuss the status of

         22  the lifeguards, see what we can do collectively to

         23  recruit and train more New Yorkers and going forward

         24  what's being done in that vain.

         25                 We are joined by Council Member Tish
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          2  James from Brooklyn, who clearly went away. Council

          3  Member Joe Addabbo and Chima Obichere, who is the

          4  Financial Analyst.

          5                 Are you testifying all by yourself?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. We will

          9  start with Commissioner Kavanagh. After the

         10  Commissioner we will go to the public, and make note

         11  that we will have three minutes for all public

         12  testimony. Thank you.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  Good morning, Chairman Foster and Committee members.

         15  I am First Deputy Commissioner Liam Kavanagh and on

         16  behalf of Mayor Bloomberg, First Deputy Mayor Patty

         17  Harris, and Commissioner Adrian Benepe, thank you

         18  for having me testify before you today to discuss

         19  lifeguard training and recruitment. And I apologize

         20  in advance, my voice is a little shaky, but I think

         21  I will be able to make it through the hearing.

         22                 Every summer the Parks Department

         23  opens 14 miles of beaches and 52 outdoor pools to

         24  millions of patrons. In 2007, we estimate that over

         25  15 million people visited those facilities from
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          2  Memorial Day through Labor Day to keep fit, cool

          3  off, or have fun with family and friends, activities

          4  made possible by a large and dedicated life guard

          5  corps.

          6                 Thanks to a record number of

          7  lifeguards last summer, we were able to expand

          8  programming of our pools and have more beach open on

          9  a consistent basis during the height of the summer.

         10                 Being a New York City lifeguard

         11  requires a strong sense of personal responsibility

         12  and a commitment to public service.

         13                 It is a job that teaches important

         14  skills that can yield lifelong benefits, develop

         15  teamwork and discipline, and provides a solid

         16  foundation for future careers.

         17                 Many lifeguards have continued in

         18  public service as police officers, firefighters,

         19  teachers and even commissioners of City agencies, or

         20  pursue professions as lawyers and doctors, including

         21  the former United States Surgeon General.

         22                 While it is a truly admirable form of

         23  public service, that's not the only reason to do it.

         24  Lifeguarding is a very good summer job which helps

         25  support hundreds of students through high school and
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          2  college. We offer a starting salary of $12.55 an

          3  hour for first-year lifeguards, a second-year rate

          4  of $13.40 an hour, and lifeguards who work three or

          5  more seasons earn $15.70 an hour, salaries that are

          6  competitive with surrounding jurisdictions.

          7                 Recruiting and training qualified

          8  applicants for these jobs are the building blocks of

          9  the successful season, and the focus of our efforts

         10  as we prepare for the summer of 2008.

         11                 Recruitment remains the biggest

         12  challenge we face every year when it comes to

         13  putting together a quality corps of lifeguards to

         14  keep New Yorkers safe during the summer.

         15                 We have responded to this challenge

         16  by expanding our reach and employing new methods for

         17  spreading our message to prospective lifeguards.

         18                 Each year we mail thousands of

         19  posters and brochures to every private, public and

         20  parochial high school and college in the City, all

         21  elected officials, community boards, libraries and

         22  non-profit organizations that provide services to

         23  teens and young adults.

         24                 We make extensive use of the world

         25  wide web, electronically mailing promotional
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          2  materials to every NCAA college in the country that

          3  has a swimming program, and making extensive use of

          4  on-line job search programs.

          5                 Last year we began using viral

          6  marketing for the first time, an approach that taps

          7  into the burgeoning social networking phenomenon. In

          8  conjunction with New York City and Company, we also

          9  developed the Whistle Worthy campaign to kick-off

         10  the recruitment season. Lifeguard chairs with

         11  Whistle Worthy banners were on display at eight

         12  high-traffic locations throughout the five boroughs

         13  at the start of the campaign. "Whistle Worthy"

         14  advertisements were displayed on 2,000 City buses

         15  and on 80 bus stop shelters. Press events were held

         16  in Union Square Park and the Staten Island Ferry

         17  Terminal at St. George to attract attention to the

         18  campaign.

         19                 We also, for the first time, used a

         20  marketing team to visit 26 colleges with swimming

         21  teams in the New York Metropolitan area, and to put

         22  up over 14,000 posters throughout those campuses.

         23                 The marketeers visited each campus

         24  three to four times over six to eight weeks to

         25  ensure that the posters remained up and to add
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          2  posters to additional locations where they will

          3  likely be seen by students.

          4                 We continue to recruit overseas as

          5  well, using organizations like the International

          6  YMCA, and summer employment services to refer

          7  qualified candidates to us. However, given the

          8  standards and training requirements, it is unlikely

          9  that the number of foreign lifeguards will grow

         10  beyond the four percent we currently employ. The

         11  vast majority of our lifeguards are New York City

         12  high school and college students.

         13                 We also employ more traditional

         14  methods using classified ads in Citywide

         15  neighborhood and ethnic newspapers, and locally park

         16  staff attend PSAL, City University and NCA swim

         17  meets to personally recruit competitive swimmers,

         18  and on Saturday we were at the PSAL girls

         19  championships to do just that.

         20                 Of our most effective recruiters are

         21  our lifeguard training supervisors who use their

         22  extensive contacts in the school system and the

         23  world of competitive swimming to attract new

         24  candidates to the program. All of these efforts

         25  appear to be bearing fruit.
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          2                 Last year we employed a record 1,092

          3  lifeguards surpassing the previous high of 1,060 set

          4  in 2006. While recruitment is one of the key

          5  ingredients to a successful program, effective

          6  training remains the essential element in providing

          7  safe beaches and pools.

          8                 The municipal lifeguard training

          9  program, which is authorized by the New York State

         10  Department of Health, to certify lifeguards for

         11  beach and pool assignments, provides that element.

         12                 To qualify for the Municipal

         13  Lifeguard Training Program, candidates must be 16

         14  years of age by the start of employment, have at

         15  least 2030 vision in one eye and 2040 in the other

         16  without corrective lenses, and be able to swim 50

         17  yards in 35 seconds or less with proper form.

         18                 Candidates who pass the exam are

         19  enrolled in Parks' free 40 hour training course

         20  which is consistent with industry standards.

         21                 Lifeguard trainees learn CPR, basic

         22  first aid, freestyle, sidestroke, inverted scissor

         23  kicks, the cross chest carry and other life-saving

         24  techniques.

         25                 Training is conducted primarily at
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          2  the 59th Street recreation center where access to

          3  public transportation and our ability to offer

          4  flexible schedules make it appealing to many of our

          5  trainees.

          6                 We continue to offer satellite

          7  training and testing. Last year we tested at ten

          8  different facilities and conducted training in

          9  Rockaway and on Staten Island. And we are open to

         10  adding more satellite training locations if there

         11  are sufficient number of candidates willing to

         12  commit to a specific schedule and location.

         13                 Upon completion of the training

         14  course, candidates must pass a written exam, a

         15  swimming test in which they must swim 440 yards in

         16  six minutes and 40 seconds to qualify for a beach

         17  assignment, or seven minutes and 40 seconds for a

         18  pool assignment, and to successfully demonstrate a

         19  number of life-saving techniques.

         20                 Beach lifeguards must also complete a

         21  300 yard ocean swim and perform simulated rescues at

         22  the facility to which they are assigned prior to

         23  assuming their duties.

         24                 Lifeguards are expected to work up to

         25  six days a week, including weekends and holidays.
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          2  Candidates who successfully complete the course and

          3  pass the test are virtually guaranteed a job for the

          4  summer and will be paid for the time they spend in

          5  training once they are employed as New York City

          6  lifeguards.

          7                 In 2007, we received over 5,000

          8  requests for information about lifeguard job

          9  opportunities. Every person who inquired was invited

         10  to try out by taking the lifeguard qualifying test.

         11  Of approximately 1,300 who took the initial test,

         12  359 passed and were accepted into the training

         13  program. Of those approximately 230 completed

         14  training and were hired as New York City lifeguards.

         15                 Clearly, we cannot rely solely on new

         16  recruits to staff, beaches and pools. The majority

         17  of the lifeguards who serve in any given year are

         18  returnees from the prior season.

         19                 Each summer, approximately 75 percent

         20  of the previous year's lifeguards return to work

         21  another season, and having a higher base to build

         22  from, that is having a corps, you know, 1,092

         23  lifeguards gets us off to a better start each year.

         24                 Certainly a higher salary for second-

         25  and third-year guards help bring them back, as does
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          2  the seniority they earn which may allow them to move

          3  for a more desirable assignment.

          4                 But lifeguarding remains a seasonal

          5  occupation, attracting primarily students who often

          6  work summers throughout high school and college

          7  before embarking on other careers.

          8                 The average age of a lifeguard is 22,

          9  and 82 percent of all lifeguards are less than 24

         10  years old.

         11                 Over 66 percent of our lifeguards in

         12  a given year have between two and eight years of

         13  service. The heavy reliance on students creates some

         14  predictable staffing patterns which are common to

         15  lifeguarding programs throughout the region.

         16                 In June when students are still in

         17  school, and at the end of August when many colleges

         18  opened, staffing is lower than during the heart of

         19  the season.

         20                 Returning lifeguards are required to

         21  complete a recertification process each year, in

         22  which they must pass swimming tests and renew their

         23  CPR certification.

         24                 The lifeguarding is a great summer

         25  job. It is a serious business. These young men and
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          2  women, many of them teenagers, are charged with a

          3  very serious task, ensuring the safety of beach and

          4  pool patrons.

          5                 This is a charge we, at Parks, take

          6  very seriously, and it is instilled in the members

          7  of the lifeguard corps through our training programs

          8  and reinforced by lifeguard supervisors throughout

          9  the summer.

         10                 Every year lifeguards save many

         11  lives, whether by rescuing a swimmer in distress, or

         12  by recognizing potential problems and heading them

         13  off before an incident occurs.

         14                 And they often go to extraordinary

         15  lengths on behalf of the public.

         16                 Late in the day this past July 4th, a

         17  man approached a lifeguard in Coney Island, placed a

         18  gun under his chin and shot himself. A team of

         19  lifeguards immediately responded and made a valiant

         20  effort to save the man's life by performing CPR and

         21  rescue breathing, until EMS arrived.

         22                 While the man, unfortunately, did not

         23  survive, the actions of the lifeguard crew were

         24  truly heroic, a testament to their personal

         25  character and reflective of the training that they
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          2  had received.

          3                 We are extremely proud of the work

          4  that has been done over the years by our lifeguards.

          5  We are fortunate to live in such close proximity,

          6  and natural beauty of the ocean and have so many

          7  large pools in neighborhoods across the five

          8  boroughs.

          9                 Thanks to the hard work and

         10  dedication of almost 1,100 lifeguards and

         11  supervisors, millions of New Yorkers are able to

         12  take advantage of those wonderful resources.

         13                 We look forward to working with the

         14  Council, other agencies of government and community

         15  partners to continue to build the lifeguard program

         16  and reach our ultimate goal of 1,200 lifeguards

         17  serving at beaches and pools each year.

         18                 Thank you for allowing me to speak

         19  with you today, and I'd be happy to answer any

         20  questions the Committee has.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. A

         22  couple of questions. What is the retention rate of

         23  lifeguards after they're lifeguards one year? Do

         24  they usually come back? Or how does that work?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  We estimate that about 75 percent return every year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And is there a

          4  preference in terms of those who are more seasoned

          5  or who have been back two and three years, and by

          6  preference do they get to choose where they're

          7  assigned? You know, understanding that you've got to

          8  do a certain time for the beach and a certain time

          9  for the pool. But of those that return, is there a

         10  preference based on hierarchy or you've been here

         11  longer?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  After a lifeguard completes one year of service,

         14  they do earn seniority, which can come into play in

         15  choosing an assignment.

         16                 Of course, you have to earn more

         17  seniority to choose the most desirable assignment.

         18  But if there is an opening at a facility where you

         19  would prefer to work and you have the seniority,

         20  you're entitled to claim that opening.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And what is the

         22  season for lifeguards? Starts when and ends when?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         24  It starts the Saturday before Memorial Day and it

         25  ends on -- for beach lifeguards. Pool lifeguards
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          2  start the last week in June. We wait until schools

          3  close before we actually open the pools, so the date

          4  varies from year-to-year. And both the beaches and

          5  the pools close on Labor Day.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: On Labor Day?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Are there any

         10  exceptions, like if we have a global warming and

         11  we're exceptionally hot into the first three weeks

         12  in September? Or is it just a hard and fast rule?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  We have never extended the season beyond Labor Day,

         15  and our budget is predicated on a Memorial Day to

         16  Labor Day season. If, you know, weather trends

         17  continue, it may be something we have to consider in

         18  the future.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: The minimum age

         20  for lifeguards is 16, correct?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is there a

         24  maximum age?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  No, there isn't.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And I know you

          4  said four percent of the lifeguards come from

          5  another country, of the 230, what's the exact number

          6  that are from a foreign country?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  Of the new lifeguards last year, we had about 20 who

          9  came from foreign countries.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Were these 20

         11  repeaters or first-timers?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  No, they were new. All told, we had approximately

         14  40. A combination of the new candidates who passed

         15  the test, and returning lifeguards who had worked in

         16  previous years.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, I want to

         18  get into two other areas before I turn the mic over.

         19                 What percentage, or what number of

         20  beaches are closed due to lifeguard shortage?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  It depends on the time of the year. As I mentioned

         23  in my testimony, early in the season and late in the

         24  season, there are fewer lifeguards available to

         25  staff beaches, primarily. And on weekdays from
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          2  Memorial Day to the beginning of July, I would

          3  estimate that between 50 and 60 percent of available

          4  beaches are open for swimming. That's not very

          5  different from what other municipal and county beach

          6  programs experience. For example, Long Beach doesn't

          7  even open their beaches on weekdays until the last

          8  Monday in June. So, we do have beaches open every

          9  weekday, from the start of the season to Labor Day,

         10  but, again, at the beginning of the season and the

         11  end of the season, there will be some closures.

         12                 This year from, basically from the

         13  beginning of July, through probably the third week

         14  in August, virtually every beach was open every day

         15  during the summer.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Has there been in

         17  the past, or is there thought on having

         18  conversations with a lot of these beachfront

         19  communities to see if there is someone for the

         20  community for these days when there is a shortage. I

         21  mean, you know, the beginning and the end if there

         22  is a shortage, if there is someone in the community

         23  that takes the lifeguard test or is qualified as a

         24  lifeguard, is willing to man the beach?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  If they want to be a lifeguard, they're welcome to

          3  come and go through the testing and the training and

          4  become a lifeguard, and we'll be happy to assign

          5  them if they qualify.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right. But

          7  specifically to those areas where the request or the

          8  demand is such that, you know, specifically, you

          9  know, I live near Section 12 in Orchard Beach, you

         10  know, nobody lives near Orchard Beach really,

         11  Section 12, I passed the lifeguard test but what I'm

         12  interested in doing is Monday through Friday when

         13  there isn't someone there from four to six or

         14  whatever it is, manning that area of the beach. Has

         15  that approach been considered?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is that something

         19  that could be considered? Or is it more problematic

         20  than it is potential problem solving?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  My understanding is that years ago there were

         23  part-time lifeguards employed by the City for the

         24  beaches, and there were problems with attendance and

         25  there, I guess their commitment to the job, and it
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          2  became a difficulty managing the beach operation. It

          3  has not been used in more than 20 years, and in

          4  fact, the current contract does not allow part-time

          5  lifeguards after July 1st.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: The current

          7  contract does not allow part-time lifeguards after

          8  July 1st.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, what

         12  percentage, do you know, of fatalities have there

         13  been at our beaches and pools when lifeguards have

         14  been on duty?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  Last year there was one fatality during the time

         17  when lifeguards were on duty at the beaches last

         18  summer.

         19                 It varies from year-to-year, but it

         20  looks, over a period of time can be an average of

         21  about one per season.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And is there

         23  requirements in terms of how many lifeguards per

         24  beach or per area is required?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Both the State and City Health Code require one

          3  lifeguard for every 50 yards of open beach.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And I assume it's

          5  safe to say that we comply with that? I mean, we

          6  don't have the number of lifeguards, that's when we

          7  close beach areas?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And we have

         11  adequate number of lifeguards for all the pools.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  Yes. Though, occasionally at the end of the season

         14  we do have to restrict the swimming area, if many of

         15  the lifeguards have left or returned to school.

         16                 It does happen. It doesn't have a

         17  tremendous impact because usership drops

         18  significantly at the pools during the last two weeks

         19  in August.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What is the

         21  lifeguard ratio for pools?

         22                 Meaning if it's every 50 yards for

         23  beaches, what is it for a pool?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  You're required to have one lifeguard for every
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          2  3,400 square feet of water surface.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. So, it's

          4  based on the water surface, not --

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  Not linear footage, as it is at the beach.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Or how, like I

          8  know that Malolly pool, during the hottest days you

          9  can't even see water there are so many kids in the

         10  pool, or people in the pool. It's not based on

         11  numbers?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  Well, the 3,400 square foot ratio translates into a

         14  number of people who were allowed in the pool at any

         15  given time.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  And we do keep track of the numbers who enter the

         19  pool, and when they reach capacity, we unfortunately

         20  have to ask people to wait until people leave before

         21  they can enter the pool.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         24  Oh, absolutely, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: The capacity
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          2  numbers for pools is based on the size.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Yes, they are.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I want to get

          6  into another area. We have been joined by Council

          7  Member Oliver Koppell, who is not on the Committee,

          8  but was a lifeguard, he did swimming at Bronx

          9  Science, and he actually wrote a letter to me

         10  requesting this meeting and we both concurred. I

         11  want to get into the area of the Parks Department

         12  and the Department of Education. And what type of

         13  collaborative effort is being made to increase

         14  exposure to swimming and swimming in public schools.

         15                 If you know, and the reason I'm

         16  asking you, because later I'm going to get the

         17  number from the Department of Education to see if

         18  they differ, do you know how many working pools

         19  there are in public schools?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  No, I don't.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How many working

         23  pools does the Department of Parks work with?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  We have right now 11 indoor pools, and we'll be
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          2  adding a 12th facility in the next month or six

          3  weeks.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So you work with

          5  out of 11 indoor pools in public schools?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  No, no, no. These are indoor pools at Parks

          8  Department facilities.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         10                 Do you currently do any training at

         11  public schools?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  Swimming instruction at public schools? No, we

         14  don't.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you have any

         16  program to work with public schools?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  Yes, we do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. Go ahead.

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  We have a program called "Swim to Safety," under

         22  which public school students come to our indoor

         23  pools to participate in our Learn To Swim Program.

         24                 We began it a couple of years ago.

         25  Last year 4,400 kids went through the Learn to Swim
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          2  Program and we've started it again this year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And currently, I

          4  know I'm asking the same question over, but I'm

          5  trying to make sure I understand. So, currently the

          6  Department of Parks is not in any public school

          7  where there is a pool doing any type of program?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: In testimony in

         11  February of 2003, you made mention of a

         12  waterproofing program; what is that?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  That is a program, the Swim To Safety Program. It's

         15  basically the same thing. It is to introduce

         16  children to the water, make them feel comfortable in

         17  the water. Because if someone is not, they can panic

         18  and that is when, you know, a tragedy can occur.

         19                 It is to develop basic sort of

         20  self-preservation skills in the water, and those who

         21  are capable, to actually teach them how to swim.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Has there been,

         23  to your knowledge, any conversation with the

         24  Department of Education to do a joint program with

         25  the Parks Department in the pools that are available
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          2  in the public schools?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

          4  think we have discussed that with the Department of

          5  Education, but we have not arrived at a program yet.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It hasn't gone

          7  anywhere.

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Are you capable

         11  if, you know, obviously money is put on both ends,

         12  of creating a program on all levels, elementary to

         13  high school, where there are pools in a public

         14  school, to do some sort of training?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes.

         18                 Last question before I turn the mic

         19  over. In your testimony, can you explain what viral

         20  marketing is?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         22  wish I could.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  No, it is an internet-based form of marketing where
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          2  you create what they call "affinity communities,"

          3  communities of people who share the same interest,

          4  and they are attracted to similar subjects, similar

          5  pursuits, and in the marketing world you try to

          6  create these communities and attract people who are

          7  interested in the subject you're trying to promote,

          8  or in some cases trying to sell.

          9                 In our case, we're interested in

         10  people who are swimmers, who have perhaps an

         11  interest in becoming lifeguards, but primarily

         12  swimmers, because, frankly, you need to have a

         13  pretty competent swimmer in order to become a

         14  lifeguard. You need to be a pretty competent

         15  swimmer.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Of all the

         17  marketing efforts that were mentioned in page two,

         18  the second paragraph, what were the numbers from

         19  this? Did we reap the benefits from the viral

         20  marketing, as well as NCA swim teams and all those

         21  things?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         23  don't think we got as much as we had hoped out of

         24  the NCA swim teams, to be honest. And the viral

         25  marketing, we just started experimenting with it
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          2  last year. We're going to try to use it more this

          3  year. The great thing about it is that it's

          4  relatively inexpensive. You don't have to invest a

          5  lot to reach out to an enormous number of people.

          6                 You know, for example, our newspaper

          7  advertisements, you know, probably cost half of our

          8  budget, whereas the internet work is just a fraction

          9  of what we spend each year on our marketing.

         10                 So, we're a little disappointed with

         11  the outreach to the schools, particularly the

         12  marketing outreach. I don't think we got as much of

         13  a return as we hoped, but we think that, you know,

         14  continuing the Internet-based work will in the long

         15  term attract more candidates to our program.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: In terms of

         17  marketing, is there anything that you plan to do

         18  differently this year to recruit lifeguards, than

         19  you did last year?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  Well, we will probably try to have a new campaign.

         22  Obviously you want a campaign sort of slogan. You

         23  want to keep it fresh. You want to attract attention

         24  to it. That was part of the intent of the

         25  whistle-worthy campaign. But I think what we're

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  going to be looking at is to narrow our focus

          3  somewhat. Last year we cast an extremely wide net in

          4  a lot of different places, and I think we need to

          5  narrow the focus and target the swimming community,

          6  you know, even more effectively than we have in the

          7  past.

          8                 That's always been one of our focus

          9  points, but we need to work even more on that

         10  community.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I know you

         12  mentioned the City and State requirements for

         13  lifeguard and lifeguard training. Are there any

         14  other guidelines or training protocols that other

         15  jurisdictions look to or are higher than what we

         16  have in the State?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  Well, almost every lifeguarding program is based on

         19  the American Red Cross Lifesaving Program. Ours is,

         20  our instructors are certified by the American Red

         21  Cross, our training material is Red Cross standard

         22  material, and, you know, there are differences in

         23  some of the training standards, some of the physical

         24  standards that the different jurisdictions have. But

         25  I would be surprised if there is any lifeguarding
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          2  program in the country that isn't founded on the

          3  American Red Cross principles.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So, the American

          5  Red Cross, part of the State requirements?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  The American Red Cross certification is accepted by

          8  the State for pool certifications. Not for beach

          9  certifications.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And for beach

         11  certification, is there any other protocol that

         12  jurisdictions use, that you know of?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  Well, it's all based on the same life-saving

         15  techniques, and life-saving strategies, and it's

         16  also based on experience of the trainers who have

         17  worked the beaches for many years.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Has there been

         19  any consideration -- no, that's not the word to use.

         20  Have in training or in situations where there have

         21  been fatalities or almost fatalities, has the age of

         22  the lifeguard played an issue?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         24  Not that I'm aware of, no.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.
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          2                 We've been joined by Council Member

          3  Helen Sears from Queens, and as I said, Council

          4  Member Koppell from the Bronx, who is not on the

          5  Committee.

          6                 I'm going to turn the mic over to

          7  Council Member Addabbo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          9  Chairwoman Foster, and I thank you and your staff

         10  for doing this hearing. Thank you very much,

         11  Commissioner Kavanagh. Thank you for your time and

         12  testimony today.

         13                 On page three of your testimony,

         14  Commissioner Kavanagh, you mentioned that you tested

         15  ten different facilities; can you tell me when you

         16  did that and where these facilities were?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  We tested mostly in November, December, January. I

         19  don't have all of the facilities in front of me, but

         20  some of them included John Adams, Dewitt Clinton

         21  High School, Abraham Lincoln High School, New

         22  Uttrecht High School. There was a boys club in the

         23  Bronx where we tested, basically we'll go any place

         24  we can get a representative group of candidates

         25  together to get them tested.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And when you

          3  say testing, can we define testing?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          5  This is the qualifying test. This is the qualifying

          6  test to see if they are able to enter the training

          7  program.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And if we got

          9  a large enough group of individuals who had

         10  qualified to do the final testing, which, again, is

         11  at 59th Street, which many of, again, my

         12  constituents have said that that may be

         13  inappropriate to go to, inaccessible, or just that

         14  there may be other facilities that may be more

         15  appropriate, if you had a number of individuals who,

         16  again, are ready to be tested, for the final

         17  testing, would you entertain, since you've already

         18  done the qualifying tests at these other sites,

         19  doing the final testing at these other sites?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  The final test involves a number of different

         22  components. You have the swim test, the written

         23  test, you have to demonstrate the life-saving

         24  techniques that I mentioned. There is also

         25  administrative work processing that needs to be
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          2  done, record keeping that needs to be done.

          3                 We find it much more efficient, given

          4  the time of the year when all of this occurs. It

          5  happens primarily during June. There is a crush of

          6  lifeguards who are being recertified and tested, and

          7  it's just more efficient for us and even for the

          8  lifeguards, because you do have to be processed by

          9  our personnel office.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Even if we're

         11  not talking about ten different sites, but even

         12  maybe just one in each borough, to make it more,

         13  again, attractive to those who may want to become

         14  lifeguards; can we even think about maybe that?

         15                 We're talking about four other sites,

         16  not ten. We're talking about four other sites, one

         17  in each of the other boroughs other than Manhattan.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  We're talking about setting up an administrative

         20  function to manage all of those processes. We can

         21  consider it, but I don't see it as any pediment to

         22  people becoming lifeguards. This is a job, and it's

         23  not unusual to have to travel to a processing

         24  facility, a training facility in order to take a

         25  job.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: The fact that

          3  you say you can consider it, I'll leave that as the

          4  door is slightly ajar, slightly open. And, again, if

          5  we get numbers in each of those boroughs, I look

          6  forward to having that further conversation with

          7  you.

          8                 Let's go back to something that the

          9  Chair brought up about part-time lifeguards. Which,

         10  again, is something in the conversations you and I

         11  have had over the years. When does that contract

         12  expire? If the part-time lifeguard is an issue

         13  because of the contract with the union, when does

         14  that contract expire that some of the terms can be

         15  adjusted?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         17  believe the Citywide contract is being negotiated

         18  right now. I don't know the exact expiration date.

         19  The contract is one of the issues, and, frankly, the

         20  experience that the agency had with part-time

         21  lifeguards was not a good one, and I don't know if

         22  that would be the approach we would want to take.

         23                 We would prefer to hire 1,200

         24  full-time lifeguards to work the entire season, and

         25  to fully staff the beaches and pools --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I would tend

          3  to agree that if you had the full complement of

          4  1,200, the issue of part-time lifeguards is

          5  diminished greatly. But we spoke earlier in your

          6  testimony about early season and late season

          7  finding, again, even the full-time lifeguards, they

          8  go back to work or they're not finished with school

          9  yet. They go back to school. So, in that early part

         10  of the season when we have a depleted force, and at

         11  the end of the season, maybe then we can use the

         12  part-time lifeguards; is that something open to

         13  discussion?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         15  Well, we do use essentially part-time lifeguards now

         16  in the early season. It's primarily to accommodate

         17  students. But there is no impediment to anyone else

         18  working part-time from Memorial Day to the beginning

         19  of July. So, you're really talking about the last

         20  two weeks in August, and, you know, creating a

         21  mechanism to hire perhaps some, I don't know how

         22  many, part-time lifeguards for that short period of

         23  time. I don't know if that's the most effective use

         24  of our resources.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Is that at
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          2  least something being discussed when you say that

          3  the contract is being negotiated?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          5  The Citywide contract. I'm sorry, I don't mean to be

          6  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: If the

          8  contract is an impediment to part-time lifeguards,

          9  with the Citywide contract being negotiated, is the

         10  idea of part-time lifeguards being negotiated as

         11  well?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         13  don't know that right now to tell you the truth.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay. That's

         15  something I would like to follow-up with you on, if

         16  you don't mind.

         17                 Open beaches late in the day. We have

         18  situations where, you know, 95 degree weather days

         19  beaches close 6:00, right?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Beaches close

         23  6:00. They're gone. I have residents just getting

         24  home at that point, and they want to enjoy their

         25  beaches. Is there a mechanism that we could work on
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          2  to either extend the hours or stagger the beaches

          3  where we can have a beach open that's more

          4  appropriate 8:00 at night or so to accommodate,

          5  again, the residents and even visitors who want to

          6  stay later in the day, and under safe conditions

          7  with a lifeguard?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  That is something that was raised late last spring

         10  when the Mayor visited Rockaway. And he did ask us

         11  to look into that this coming season. It is

         12  predicated to a large extent on having a sufficient

         13  number of lifeguards to allow for later hours,

         14  staggered beaches may mean that you're accepting

         15  some closed beaches, because if the number doesn't

         16  change significantly, you know, you cannot open

         17  beaches without the appropriate number of guards.

         18  So, if longer hours are the goal, there may be some

         19  beach that is not open during the daytime. But these

         20  are things that the Mayor did ask us to consider for

         21  next season.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And, again,

         23  this is something that we will follow-up on, but if

         24  we look at that after 6:00 all the beaches are

         25  closed, so what do we have to lose? Right now after
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          2  6:00 all beaches are closed. Maybe now after 6:00 at

          3  least we'll get some that are open, which I think is

          4  an optimistic way of looking at this. So, it's again

          5  a conversation I look forward to having with you.

          6                 Other issues that we have had

          7  addressed, and, again, we have had a meeting with

          8  regards to certain issues that were brought to my

          9  attention. The issues regarding training. There were

         10  some issues that were brought up in the past about

         11  verbal abuse, or some incidents or procedures going

         12  on in the training.

         13                 To your knowledge, has there been any

         14  incidence of being verbally abused by, and, again,

         15  those who are taking the test or being trained, any

         16  incidents of verbal abuse or anything of impropriety

         17  that would be frowned upon by the Administration?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  There were no cases of that nature brought to my

         20  attention or filed with the Department of

         21  Investigation during the last training year.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And, of

         23  course, you would say that if somebody has a

         24  problem, go forward?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  Absolutely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

          4                 And there was an issue also of a

          5  clock, that basically if there was a person being

          6  tested, there should be a clock, a digital clock in

          7  the testing, I guess at 59th Street. Is there a

          8  clock at 59th Street during testing?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  Yes, we have a clock on the pool deck during

         11  testing, and candidates are welcomed to time

         12  themselves, as well.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: This clock

         14  gets rolled out during testing procedures and it's

         15  not fixed.

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  It's not fixed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: The test

         19  given for lifeguard lieutenant and lifeguard chief,

         20  as the person goes forward; what kind of test is

         21  that, if I may?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         23  It's not a test. It's based on years of service and

         24  a recommendation of ranking lifeguard. Ranking

         25  lifeguard supervisor.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And for those

          3  who don't pass, you have mentioned the numbers of

          4  people who are basically given an application, for

          5  those who don't pass, what happens to those

          6  individuals?

          7                 Who don't pass maybe the qualifying

          8  tests; are they given some help to try and get back?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  Everybody who takes the qualifying test is given a

         11  conditioning pass that allows them to use any pool

         12  in the City any time it's open, and our lifeguard

         13  trainers frequently encourage them to develop their

         14  swimming skills, and, in fact, do work with them to

         15  become more proficient swimmers and qualify for the

         16  training school.

         17                 Those who unfortunately don't meet

         18  the final test standards, we can't offer a job to

         19  them unfortunately.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Would you say

         21  that the Parks Department view is pretty much to try

         22  and help those who may not go on the first try, and

         23  again, knowing we want qualified lifeguards at our

         24  beaches, but, again, the focus would be on trying to

         25  help these individuals to see if they could qualify.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          3  Yes, we do work with our applicants. We want people

          4  to qualify, and I think our trainers are known for

          5  working with people to help them qualify.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Two last

          7  questions. You mentioned an incident regarding an

          8  unfortunate situation at Coney Island, with the

          9  gentleman approaching the lifeguard with a gun.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: That

         13  incident, are those type of incidents reported in

         14  any way? Obviously I would think NYPD has a report,

         15  but any way that you report that within the Parks

         16  Department.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  Yes. There was a standard protocol in which the

         19  local supervision makes out what is called an

         20  incident report, but it is also incidents of that

         21  nature are communicated almost immediately

         22  throughout the Parks Department through our central

         23  communications and our blackberries and cell phones.

         24                 In fact, I happened to be at Coney

         25  Island that day. I was not at that section of beach,
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          2  but I was down near Stillwell Avenue and I went up

          3  there within a few minutes of receiving that report.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And if we

          5  were to categorize those reports as somewhat let's

          6  say negative reports, drownings and other fatalities

          7  or other severe injuries, those are reported,

          8  correct?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Let's shift

         12  to the positive ones, where a lifeguard makes a

         13  save, or a lifeguard somehow creates a more secure

         14  area on the beach, are those saves in the water, or

         15  are those secured in making an area more secure, are

         16  those incidents reported in any way?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  Water rescues are reported. They're recorded and

         19  reported. If they reach a certain threshold, we are

         20  required to report them to the Department of Health

         21  and the Department of Health, in their judgment, may

         22  or may not conduct a review of the incident. But all

         23  water rescues are reported, recorded rather, by the

         24  local supervisor in the incident report form and

         25  collected and kept on file.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And last

          3  question, you spoke again about the Red Cross

          4  certification, and the principles used there.

          5                 The Municipal Lifeguard Training

          6  Program basically the mechanism currently for giving

          7  a final certification, correct? That's how we do the

          8  municipal lifeguard programs?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  Yes, the municipal lifeguard training programs

         11  certifies lifeguards to work at our beaches.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Do you ever

         13  see in the future where an individual can have a

         14  choice whether to go through the current program to

         15  become a New York City lifeguard, or go through an

         16  alternate program like the Red Cross program, get

         17  their certification there, and come back to work at

         18  a New York City beach?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         20  don't think that's an effective option for us. The

         21  Red Cross, while the program is, as I said the

         22  industry standard, they're training is done by a

         23  decentralized network of hundreds of trainers, and

         24  in order to have the consistency and the discipline

         25  and basically the standards that we need at all of
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          2  our facilities and all of our lifeguards can be

          3  assigned to another facility that they're qualified

          4  to serve at, at the needs of the agency, I think you

          5  need that one training program to ensure that all

          6  lifeguards understand and react in the same fashion.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Commissioner,

          8  again, I thank you for your time and testimony. And

          9  I do have other issues that I'd like to follow up

         10  with you on on lifeguards subsequent to this

         11  hearing. So, again, I look forward to our

         12  conversations in the future.

         13                 Thank you. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. I'm

         15  just going to jump in with two questions that I got

         16  from Council Member Addabbo's line of questioning.

         17                 You mentioned a number of high school

         18  sites where testing is done. Is it possible then to

         19  in those same sites to create programs with DOE to

         20  get high school students from those exact schools

         21  involved in the program?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         23  Yes, I think it could be possible.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And in the line

         25  of questioning that, or conversation that has been
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          2  had between the Parks Department or DOE, have these

          3  sites come up?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          5  Not specifically. Our conversations with DOE have

          6  focused on younger kids, and as I said, enrolling

          7  them in our Swim To Safety Program, as opposed to

          8  older kids.

          9                 We have tried it in a couple of

         10  instances where we've worked with specific schools

         11  to develop kids. We had some success, modest success

         12  at New Uttrecht High School a couple years ago, and

         13  two of the lifeguards actually made a before-hours

         14  rescue before they were actually working, so that

         15  was a great thing, but it's hard to sustain, you

         16  know, interest in a broad group of high school kids.

         17  They have a lot going on in their lives, both within

         18  school and extra curricular and many of them, you

         19  know, work. So, we didn't find that to be as

         20  successful as we had hoped, but we are open to

         21  working with the school system in any way to get

         22  more lifeguards.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And just shifting

         24  notes, or line of questioning, are the lifeguards

         25  provided with cell phones, or I should say what kind

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  of alternate training mechanisms are in place when

          3  they're dealing with issues that aren't water

          4  safety-related, maybe kids wiling out, or the

          5  incident with the guy and the gun, things definitely

          6  go beyond the purview of a lifeguard. How are they,

          7  or what are they given to address those issues?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  Lifeguards, of course, have to focus on bathers in

         10  the water. That's their sole focus. If there is

         11  behavior occurring on the beach that is problematic,

         12  illegal, they should notify the supervisor, who will

         13  contact either the police or the park enforcement

         14  control to deal with the problematic behavior. But

         15  the lifeguards should not divert their attention

         16  from the water to address those kind of issues.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And how do they

         18  notify their supervisors?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  There is a series of whistle enhance signals that

         21  they use to contact the supervisors.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. And the

         23  supervisors are located where?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  There are supervisors for every section of beach,
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          2  and, of course, at pools there are supervisors

          3  assigned.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: On the beach,

          5  where are the supervisors physically located? Like,

          6  are they sitting in one of those big chairs also?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  They patrol in a variety of ways. They sit in the

          9  chairs sometimes. They walk the beach. They

         10  occasionally sit on the beach and observe, or they

         11  stand on the boardwalk and observe. There is a

         12  variety of techniques they use to supervise the

         13  beach.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         15  Council Member Sears.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         17  much, Madam Chair.

         18                 I'm sorry for being late, but I was

         19  in zoning and had to wait until we voted on that.

         20                 My questions may have been asked

         21  before. If they were, I will certainly withdraw

         22  them. One is, what is the average age for your

         23  lifeguards on the beaches?

         24                 I see you may start from 16 and go on

         25  up to, I don't know if there is a limit going
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          2  upwards?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  No, there is no limit. And the average age is about

          5  22 years of age.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. Where are

          7  the 16-year-olds placed? Are they generally on the

          8  beaches or in the public pools?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  It depends on where they qualify. If they qualify

         11  for the beach and that's their preferred assignment,

         12  they will be assigned to the beach.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are there

         14  different requirements for pools and beaches?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  Yes. In order to qualify for a beach, you need to

         17  make a more difficult -- you have to reach a higher

         18  standard in swimming.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand

         20  that.

         21                 What is the retention power?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         23  We have about 75 percent that return from

         24  year-to-year.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And over a span
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          2  what is the average length if they return?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Most of the lifeguards, about 66 percent of the

          5  lifeguards work between two and eight years of

          6  service. So, typically it's high school and college

          7  students who work during the summer while they're in

          8  school before they embark on their career.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Is that

         10  retention mostly from those that you recruit from

         11  our schools in the City?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  Oh, yes. The bulk of lifeguards are local New York

         14  City high school and college kids.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Now, at some

         16  hearing that I was in last year, it was talk about

         17  the pools in the public schools that are not open,

         18  they're in need of repair and as a result they are

         19  not functioning. Is that any objective to get those

         20  pools functioning so that they can be a source for

         21  training? At least the initial training? At least

         22  the initial training, because apparently there are a

         23  few. And those are local, or they would not have to

         24  travel to that, at least to initially start a

         25  program for them?

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          3  Well, obviously I can't speak for the Department of

          4  Education, but in general I think having pools

          5  available for both the student population and

          6  perhaps the general public would be a good thing.

          7  Swimming is a great healthy exercise, and it does

          8  afford the opportunity to expose more kids to

          9  swimming and perhaps encourage them to become

         10  lifeguards.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, I

         12  understand that's a DOE issue, but has your agency

         13  approached the DOE about joining hands in making

         14  this a reality?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  We have discussed a number of different swimming

         17  programs with DOE. We have one, in fact, underway

         18  right now in which public school kids are taught to

         19  swim at our pools. We're open to expanding it, if it

         20  makes sense for DOE and us.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right,

         22  thank you.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank

         24  you, Council Member Sears.

         25                 Council Member Koppell.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

          3  Good morning. I apologize for being late. I was

          4  actually visiting a school in my district, and I'm

          5  particularly interested in the subject, because more

          6  years ago than I care to admit to, I was in fact a

          7  lifeguard at Orchard Beach, and I enjoyed the

          8  experience. It was a very good one for me, and

          9  nobody drowned on my beach, so it was a good one for

         10  that, too.

         11                 Several questions, though. First of

         12  all, congratulations on coming closer to 1,200 last

         13  year. I hope that next summer will be at the 1,200.

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         15  That is our goal.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: First, some

         17  thoughts. I note that you have basically two tests.

         18  You have the initial qualification test, and then

         19  you have the test after training. Of the kids or the

         20  people who get into the training program, what is

         21  the percentage pass rate after they finish training;

         22  do you have any idea of either exactly or

         23  approximately?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  Approximately, I can say last year, for example, we
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          2  had 230 who completed the training and passed all of

          3  the final examinations. I believe there were 14 who

          4  did not.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Only 14.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  Only 14.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, what that

          9  says to me is that once you get past the initial 35

         10  seconds for 50 yards, and you go into training, you

         11  generally come out and qualify, and I assume that

         12  most of those who qualified actually got the jobs,

         13  and did the jobs.

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         15  Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, I note

         17  here that you paid for training if they complete the

         18  training successfully, right?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Since most of

         22  the people who go into the training and complete it

         23  successfully, I suspect you might be able to recruit

         24  more people into the training, if you didn't have

         25  the barrier of having to complete it successfully.
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          2  You said 14 people didn't, so, okay, so you paid 14

          3  people for training and they didn't make it.

          4                 I think if you said to a young

          5  person, most of these are young people, or to

          6  anybody, we'll pay you for training, and then if you

          7  successfully complete the training, we'll give you a

          8  job, but we'll pay you for training regardless. You

          9  don't need to worry that if you don't pass the

         10  training, you will have wasted that time, I suspect

         11  you might get a few more people going into the

         12  training.

         13                 So, I'm wondering whether you might

         14  consider paying people for training before they

         15  start. So, you say, look, if you pass the initial 35

         16  seconds for 50 yards, that means you're a reasonably

         17  good swimmer, you come into the training program,

         18  we'll give you a stipend. If you fail, well, that's

         19  too bad, you still keep the stipend, and if you pass

         20  obviously you keep the stipend, which is the current

         21  system; what do you think about that idea?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         23  would have to think about that a little bit. Right

         24  now we offer free training, whereas Red Cross

         25  training costs upwards of $300 to $400. So right
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          2  there we are offering a real competitive advantage.

          3  The drawback that I see is that some people complete

          4  our training and use the training to work in other

          5  places. So, if we were paying them, training them,

          6  paying them and having to go work some other place,

          7  it would certainly not be an effective use of the

          8  City's resources. And right now they only get paid

          9  for training if they come to work for us as a

         10  lifeguard. So, we think having that added incentive

         11  is actually an added benefit.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think it is

         13  an added benefit, but I do think that you might get

         14  more kids. And, look, is it so bad? I mean, from a

         15  public policy point of view, let's assume we are

         16  training them and paying them and then they get a

         17  job somewhere else. I mean, I don't know how many

         18  thousands of summer jobs we pay people for,

         19  so-to-speak, so the fact that we're taking kids from

         20  the City and paying them for training and they get a

         21  job at the local Y or at some other private place,

         22  even at a hotel somewhere, you know, so, good, we've

         23  trained them to be a lifeguard and they got a job at

         24  the Hilton Hotel, you know, that's an accomplishment

         25  too.
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          2                 So, I would strongly urge, and Madam

          3  Chair, I would strongly urge that we pay people for

          4  training, whether or not they pass. You know,

          5  they've got to come to the train, not pay them just

          6  -- they've got to show up, but if they show up and

          7  they get trained, you pay them, hopefully they pass

          8  the test. Most of your people do. So, I think that

          9  would be a good thing. I think it would encourage

         10  people, and I would strongly urge that you consider

         11  that.

         12                 The other thing is, and I think you

         13  did address this a little bit, I heard part of your

         14  testimony, of getting people up to speed to pass the

         15  initial test, the 35-second test.

         16                 Do you work with the school kids on

         17  that? Do you have any people who go out to the

         18  schools?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  Yes, we do. Trainers from the lifeguard program

         21  visit schools. They conduct the qualifying test.

         22  They identify either flaws in the form of the

         23  swimmer or encourage them, by giving them the

         24  conditioning passes and allow them to use our

         25  facilities, to work on their swimming skills, and to
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          2  come back when they feel a little stronger. You can

          3  take the qualifying test as many times as --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes. Well, I

          5  think that's a good idea.

          6                 And also, Madam Chair, I want to

          7  second Council Member Sears point, and I know we've

          8  discussed this, and that is to get more of the pools

          9  open in more of the schools. Like Evandachilds in

         10  our borough, which used to have the best swimming

         11  team in the Bronx when I went to school and now has

         12  pools that are not functioning. I think two pools,

         13  in fact. And there are others, Walton High School is

         14  another school that has a pool that's not

         15  functioning. And here again, if we had these pools

         16  functioning, they have indicated that they actually

         17  go out and help. I think that's something that we

         18  work on together.

         19                 I appreciate that, and certainly I'm

         20  a very strong supporter of this program, and I think

         21  it's kind of a shame that we can't fill the ranks,

         22  and also a shame that we have to go to Europe to get

         23  four percent of our personnel.

         24                 So, I want to thank the Chair for

         25  having this hearing and assure her that I am a
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          2  strong supporter on this.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. And

          4  thank you for the memo you wrote about lifeguards.

          5                 One of the things before you got here

          6  that I talked about and will be following up with

          7  the Department of Education and the Parks Department

          8  is just that, how come we have so many functioning

          9  pools where there are not a program, and then pools

         10  that aren't functioning. The last time we had a

         11  hearing where the Department of Education didn't

         12  show up but gave a printout of the pools that they

         13  considered functioning, you know, some of them we

         14  found out didn't have water in it. So, I don't know

         15  how that's functioning.

         16                 Thank you, Deputy Commissioner.

         17                 Go ahead.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Did they not

         19  show up today?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Today they

         21  weren't invited. This was to hear an overview and

         22  then going forward, as we have issues that come from

         23  this hearing. We will probably have another hearing

         24  for a number of reasons to get an update on where we

         25  are with the recruiting and see if we can start
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          2  generating these questions.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Terrific.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right?

          5                 Nick, can you put a third chair?

          6                 Thank you, Deputy Commissioner.

          7                 Can you put a third chair there?

          8                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS ECONOMO: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We're going to

         10  have John Gaska, Francesco Pia, and Barbara Larkin.

         11  That's the first panel. And I'm sorry, the

         12  Department of Education was invited, and true to

         13  form, they didn't show up.

         14                 Nick will take those from you.

         15                 And once you get started say your

         16  name and affiliation for the record. And the clock

         17  is not working so you're going to hear a ding from

         18  Nick.

         19                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS ECONOMO: Then you

         20  stop.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And then you

         22  stop, as he said.

         23                 Thank you. You can get started in

         24  whatever order you wish.

         25                 MR. GASKA: Okay. Good morning. I'd
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          2  like to thank Council Member Foster for holding

          3  these hearings. I'd also apparently like to thank

          4  Council Member Koppell for getting the ball rolling,

          5  and I'd really for the record like to thank Council

          6  Member Joseph Addabbo for his efforts in this

          7  matter. This has been going on way too long, and his

          8  efforts have been ongoing. So, thank you.

          9                 Again, I'm Jonathan Gaska. I'm

         10  District Manager of Community Board 14, which

         11  represents the Rockaways and Broad Channel. I've had

         12  the pleasure to serve Community Board 14 as District

         13  Manager for 18 years. And prior to my service to

         14  Community Board 14, I worked at City Hall for almost

         15  five years. So, I've been around government.

         16                 I've been an avid supporter of the

         17  Parks Department for more than two decades of City

         18  service.

         19                 The Parks Department has done a

         20  wonderful job cleaning and maintaining our parks and

         21  playgrounds. The Parks Department has been

         22  responsive to our needs in all areas, except in the

         23  issue of lifeguards. Frankly, the Parks Department

         24  does more with less.

         25                 Every summer our offices receive
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          2  numerous complaints regarding the shortage of

          3  lifeguards. Residents are angry that their

          4  neighborhood section of beach is closed.

          5                 We also every year receive complaints

          6  from the parents of children applying for lifeguard

          7  positions. Common complaints include location of

          8  testing facilities and poor treatment during

          9  training and testing.

         10                 Most of my colleagues this morning

         11  will expand on the issue of training and testing. I

         12  would like to briefly discuss the absolute lack of

         13  courtesy, professionalism and response by the Parks

         14  Department regarding our letters to them regarding

         15  this important public safety issue.

         16                 Community Board 14 has written either

         17  Commissioner Adrian Benepe, or Deputy Commissioner

         18  Liam Kavanagh no less than six times since March

         19  2006 regarding the lifeguard issue.

         20                 As of the date of this hearing, we

         21  have not received one response to our request. Not

         22  one. We have not even had the benefit of a response

         23  from them with an agency form letter in response to

         24  our request. Those of you on the panel have all

         25  gotten those. You write to DOT, they send you within
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          2  two weeks a letter back, we are in receipt of your

          3  letter, and we will get back to you before you

          4  retire. We didn't even get that from them.

          5                 Claims have been made by the Parks

          6  Department that they did not receive our letters,

          7  yet the Mayor's CAU agency and all our elected

          8  officials have confirmed receipt of all our letters.

          9                 In response to these specious claims

         10  by Parks of not receiving our letters, and then a

         11  less than accurate and contradictory quote by Deputy

         12  Kavanagh in our local newspaper The Wave that they

         13  have responded to our letters, so you can't have it

         14  both ways, gentlemen.

         15                 I wrote to Commissioner Benepe on

         16  June 8th, 2007, expressing our disappointment in his

         17  agency in this matter. And that from now on we will

         18  send letters to his agency, return receipt

         19  requested, by fax as well.

         20                 I have also included a set of copies

         21  of all letters to him via fax and mail return

         22  receipt requested, and still no response. You have

         23  those.

         24                 Ladies and gentlemen, in my over 20

         25  years in government, I have never seen such a total
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          2  lack of respect and professionalism.

          3                 This betrayal of the public trust by

          4  a City agency cannot stand. What are they hiding?

          5  Why have they not responded? And most importantly,

          6  why have they been allowed to ignore our requests by

          7  City government? Therefore, we request that you,

          8  Chairperson Foster, and your Committee, investigate

          9  and resolve this issue. I thank you for your

         10  advocacy.

         11                 DR. PIA: My name is Francesco A. Pia,

         12  Ph.D. I'm a long-time lifeguard with the City of New

         13  York. I began in 1959, worked until 1979 as a

         14  lifeguard, lieutenant lifeguard and chief lifeguard

         15  up at Orchard Beach.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I missed you

         17  by three years.

         18                 DR. PIA: Okay. Subsequent to that I

         19  worked as a volunteer with the American National Red

         20  Cross in developing their programs in '83, '95,

         21  2001, 2007, their head Lifeguard Program, their

         22  Guard Start Program. I am an instructor/trainer for

         23  them and currently working on their Advisory Council

         24  for First Aid, Aquatic Safety and Preparedness.

         25                 My purpose in coming here today was
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          2  two-fold: Number one, when I worked as a lifeguard,

          3  the Municipal Lifeguard Training Center had a

          4  national reputation as one of the best lifeguard

          5  training programs in the country. And it remained

          6  that way through the '50s, '60s and '70s. Subsequent

          7  to that, there was some question about whether or

          8  not the Municipal Lifeguard Training Program kept

          9  abreast of the developments in the field.

         10                 The data on that is inconclusive. I

         11  can tell you that the American Red Cross Lifeguard

         12  Program has probably the best injury prevention

         13  program of all the lifeguard training programs.

         14  However, the New York City Parks Department Swimming

         15  Competency Program ranks as one of the best in the

         16  nation. So, I think there is a blending that needs

         17  to occur.

         18                 If an individual can pass the 50

         19  yards and 35-second swim, that means that he or she

         20  has the swimming ability to then complete the beach

         21  and pool test, if they practice. It's just a matter

         22  of pacing them out. There should be no secrecy at

         23  all regarding what their times were. The examiners

         24  should work with them, as I have done in the past,

         25  to let them know where they're falling off the pace.
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          2                 The Swim To Safety Program is not to

          3  be considered as a Lifeguard Preparation Program.

          4  The American Red Cross started a Guard Start Program

          5  specifically designed for facilities to begin

          6  working with individuals as young as 13, right up to

          7  15, to prepare them to become lifeguards.

          8                 I would strongly suggest that the

          9  City Council and the Parks Department consider

         10  incorporating the Guard Start Program into their

         11  recruitment efforts.

         12                 And finally, about three years ago I

         13  was asked to serve as an expert witness by the

         14  Brooklyn Corporation Counsel in a drowning case. I

         15  had an opportunity to review the Municipal Lifeguard

         16  Program's training curriculum, as well as the safety

         17  plan for the facility, and I found that they have

         18  not kept up with the temporary standards in the

         19  United States.

         20                 Finally, my last point: the research

         21  that I conducted has become part of the New York

         22  State Sanitary Code Section 61, 62 and 72. I did

         23  attach a copy of my resume to my letter, so you know

         24  I know of what I speak.

         25                 MS. LARKIN: Thank you, Chairwoman
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          2  Foster and members of the Committee, and I'd also

          3  like to thank Oliver Koppell. Thank you very much

          4  for initiating this hearing.

          5                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          6  testify. Thank you to both of you, and to all the

          7  members of the Committee.

          8                 I'm here today to testify on behalf

          9  of the Queens Civic Congress and my own Bell Harbor

         10  Property Owners Association.

         11                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS ECONOMO: Excuse me.

         12  Can you state your name?

         13                 MS. LARKIN: My name is Barbara

         14  Larkin. Yes. I am Barbara Larkin is the next

         15  sentence. I serve not only as Vice President of

         16  Queens Civic Congress but also as President of the

         17  Bell Harbor Property Owners Association.

         18                 The QCC is an umbrella organization

         19  of more than 110 neighborhood-based civic

         20  organizations, representing property owners and

         21  tenants who reside in Queens. And the 1,300

         22  households in Bell Harbor, a coastal community in

         23  the Rockaways, and the residents of our neighboring

         24  communities, all share an interest in ensuring the

         25  safety of beach-goers, whether they live near or
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          2  visit our City's beaches.

          3                 In particular, we advocate for the

          4  hundreds of thousands of visitors from other parts

          5  of Queens County, as well as other beach-goers who

          6  flock to the Rockaway Peninsula during the summer

          7  months for the sole purpose of having a pleasure of

          8  swimming in the ocean along Rockaways shore line.

          9                 Last week, while watching the Wheel

         10  of Fortune, which was telecast from historic Radio

         11  City Music Hall in New York City, all the

         12  contestants when asked what they enjoy doing most,

         13  stated without hesitation that they loved going to

         14  the beach. Why? Because of New York's fabulous

         15  shoreline, where memorable moments are cherished for

         16  a lifetime.

         17                 Unfortunately, every summer red flags

         18  assault Rockaway residents and visiting beach-goers

         19  when they ought to find well-trained lifeguards. In

         20  their place individuals hired by the Department of

         21  Parks and recreation ride along the shore in urban

         22  vehicles, emitting gaseous fumes, reminding the good

         23  citizens to either stay out of the water, because

         24  there no lifeguard covers that section of beach, or

         25  drag all of your possessions to a "covered" beach.
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          2                 Could the lifeguard shortage be due

          3  to less than stellar recruiting practices?

          4                 Could the lifeguard shortage exist

          5  because of unfair training and testing procedures of

          6  the lifeguards?

          7                 Could mediocrity have become an

          8  acceptable term at the Department of Parks and

          9  Recreation when it comes to beach coverage?

         10                 As a retired teacher in the New York

         11  City school system, I can report that when a teacher

         12  was not able to report for duty, the New York City

         13  Department of Education made certain the class was

         14  covered by a substitute.

         15                 Can you imagine the public outcry if

         16  a flag, red or otherwise, was put at the entrance of

         17  a classroom, indicating that no teacher coverage was

         18  available for the day, forcing each student to find

         19  a seat in another area of the school?

         20                 Indeed, with your help I am certain

         21  responsibility will once again reign from Memorial

         22  Day through Labor Day when qualified lifeguards will

         23  guard every beach in New York City.

         24                 As a responsible citizen and

         25  community activist for over three decades, I
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          2  respectfully request that this Committee share the

          3  following, and the one important point is hire

          4  part-time lifeguards. This alone will negate your

          5  having to have to go overseas. And all the money

          6  that is spent having to do that.

          7                 Again, mediocrity is not acceptable

          8  in this City. I thank you very much for your time

          9  and attention.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         11  Council Member Addabbo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair. And I want to thank this panel for

         14  their time and testimony. And I also want to thank

         15  Jonathan Gaska for his many years of service to our

         16  City, especially in the Rockaways, Community Board

         17  14, District Manager.

         18                 Jonathan is right. You know, the

         19  bottom line is, you know, when written requests go

         20  forth to a City agency not getting responses,

         21  obviously not acceptable. So, I know some of the

         22  Administration is still here. Commissioner Kavanagh

         23  was sitting there while you had mentioned it, so

         24  that's something that we will follow up with. So,

         25  subsequent to this hearing we will follow-up with
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          2  that request.

          3                 But you're right, it should not be

          4  accepted, the fact that your responses have not been

          5  acknowledged.

          6                 MR. GASKA: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          8                 Oh, yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I just wanted

         10  to thank you all. And I think the suggestions made

         11  by you, Ms. Larkin, are all very good suggestions

         12  that I'm sure the Chair would agree, and those are

         13  things that we will follow up on. They're all very

         14  good suggestions.

         15                 MS. LARKIN: I would also like to

         16  mention that Liam Kavanagh had mentioned that they

         17  had most of the lifeguards during the height of the

         18  summer season, when my son, who was 16, who was all

         19  ivy, he had gone to Polly Prep, he was a great

         20  swimmer, was 16, and was a lifeguard, the last day

         21  of school is always very important to me, and that's

         22  during June. That's not the height of the season. He

         23  and his fellow lifeguards saved three kids who had

         24  come from Midwood High School to celebrate the end

         25  of the season. So, here he is now 38, his son is
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          2  already in the pool in Seattle getting trained.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          5                 Council Member Sears.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

          7                 I just wanted to thank you and thank

          8  Jonathan for being here. He's had a voice very

          9  strong, and it's good to see you again.

         10                 I have, and you're not the one to

         11  really direct it to, but you must have some idea,

         12  what is very unpleasant about being a lifeguard? You

         13  work on those beaches, that's where you are, and

         14  your district includes a huge beach, what is really

         15  unpleasant about being a lifeguard, that we have

         16  such a -- I mean, I've listened to everything about

         17  how they're treated, and maybe the training that

         18  picks and chooses, but if we can get at what is so

         19  unpleasant about it, that we should be able to deal

         20  with the negatives of that.  I mean, what's

         21  unpleasant about being in the sun all summer, being

         22  in the beach, being able to get away from that hot

         23  urban environment, to put it in a facetious way?

         24                 DR. PIA: Well, Councilwoman, I'm not

         25  a lifeguard, and I did not stay at a Holiday Inn
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          2  Express, so I can't help you there.

          3                 I can tell you that I think the rest

          4  of the speakers will address that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

          6                 DR. PIA: So, you're just going to

          7  hear what I've heard second and third hand, which is

          8  it's more the procedure of getting to become a

          9  lifeguard and being on the chair that there have

         10  been numerous allegations of just not fair

         11  treatment.

         12                 And then there have been allegations

         13  of cronyism on the beach as well, how different

         14  lifeguards are treated differently.

         15                 But I would rather not give it to you

         16  secondhand. You are going to get a bunch of folks

         17  here who were lifeguards who can speak from

         18  experience.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you. But

         20  I've heard a lot about your second-hand comments.

         21                 DR. PIA: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So we really

         23  need to look at that. Thank you.

         24                 DR. PIA: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Our next panel is Sheelah Feinberg;

          4  Jeanne Dupont; and Daniel Mundy. Oh, I see, senior.

          5  You're senior. Senior goes.

          6                 Once you get situated, you can start

          7  in whatever order, and please state your name and

          8  affiliation for the record before you get started.

          9                 MS. FEINBERG: Is this on? Okay.

         10  Sheelah Feinberg, with New Yorkers for Parks.

         11                 Good morning. My name is Sheelah

         12  Feinberg. I am the Director of Government and

         13  Community Relations at New Yorkers for Parks, the

         14  only independent watchdog for all the City's parks,

         15  beaches and playgrounds.

         16                 Many people visit our 14 miles of

         17  City beaches but cannot fully enjoy them because

         18  they're not able to swim due to the already

         19  expressed lifeguard shortage.

         20                 This past summer, New Yorkers for

         21  Parks released Raising The Tide: Strategies for New

         22  York City Beaches, and just if you are curious, you

         23  can get a copy of that from our website,

         24  www.ny4p.org.

         25                 The report provides recommendations
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          2  to improve the lifeguard program.

          3                 Some of the factors that contribute

          4  to a lifeguard shortage include training, hours, and

          5  wages, and recruitment challenges.

          6                 The first one: Lifeguard training.

          7  While the City has many athletic programs, no

          8  significant emphasis is place on youth swimming. The

          9  Department of Parks and Recreation and the

         10  Department of Education and many CBOs all offer

         11  swimming programs, but still many minority youth

         12  populations lack basic swimming skills, and are

         13  actually five times more likely to drown than white

         14  children.

         15                 The Parks Department has successfully

         16  partnered with the local YMCA branches that have

         17  swimming pools to ensure that all children are

         18  learning how to swim. But still, the pipeline of new

         19  lifeguards is shrinking.

         20                 Wages and hours. Lifeguards simply do

         21  not get paid enough. They also work 48 hours a week,

         22  more than a standard work week. The starting salary

         23  for 2007 for both beach and pool lifeguards was

         24  $11.72 per hour. A rise or an increase over the

         25  previous year salary of 10.71. Staff members who
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          2  return are awarded a staff increase, but the current

          3  salary is not competitive and must be to recruit new

          4  lifeguards.

          5                 The State pays the same level

          6  lifeguards at Jones Beach $12.56 an hour, almost a

          7  dollar more. For many, being a lifeguard is their

          8  first job, and therefore they look forward to their

          9  first paycheck and would probably want more from

         10  that first paycheck.

         11                 Recruitment challenges. As already

         12  stated, the City faces a lifeguard shortage. Some

         13  creative ways of recruiting lifeguards overseas has

         14  resulted in modest gains.

         15                 Unfortunately, the Department of

         16  Parks and Recreation has yet to meet the stated goal

         17  of hiring 1,200 lifeguards. This leads to beach

         18  closures that greatly affect the communities.

         19                 However, we think that some new ways

         20  could be incorporated.

         21                 New Yorkers for Parks recommends that

         22  the Department of Parks and Recreation improve

         23  recruitment by administering training where there is

         24  demand in beach communities to avoid the long

         25  commute to one training site in Manhattan.
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          2                 In addition, DPR should accept

          3  life-saving certification from other organizations,

          4  including the Red Cross, YMCA Aquatics or the US

          5  Lifesaving Association.

          6                 Lifeguard salaries should be doubled

          7  for under-served beaches. Private pools and State

          8  lifeguards earn an average of at least a dollar more

          9  than City lifeguards.

         10                 Finally, DPR should consider

         11  expanding youth swimming opportunities with the

         12  Department of Education.

         13                 With these recommendations

         14  implemented, more New Yorkers will be able to enjoy

         15  all 14 miles of New York City's beaches.

         16                 Thank you. I'm happy to take any

         17  questions.

         18                 MS. DUPONT: Hi. My name is Jeanne

         19  Dupont, and I am the Director of the Rockaway

         20  Waterfront Alliance. We're a community group in the

         21  Rockaways that specifically advocates for public

         22  waterfront access, education and youth programming

         23  in the Rockaways.

         24                 The Rockaways, as with all New York

         25  City beaches, are officially closed unless a
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          2  lifeguard is present. Unless legislation is changed

          3  to allow the public to swim at your own risk, this

          4  would continue to be the situation, leaving the

          5  public blocked from legally entering the beach for

          6  more than nine months out of the year.

          7                 This directly affects public access

          8  to New York City waterfront.

          9                 Another bit issue, however, is the

         10  training standards by which New York City lifeguards

         11  are presently trained. Most of the public would

         12  assume that New York City lifeguards assigned to

         13  beaches are trained in ocean swimming and open water

         14  rescue. However, they are not.

         15                 Unlike New Jersey, Massachusetts,

         16  Maine, California and many other states, as well as

         17  other parts of New York State, New York City does

         18  not abide by US Lifeguard Association standards.

         19  This requires legislation to be passed in order to

         20  make this change. Rip tides and strong currents off

         21  the coast are a challenge to any swimmer but the

         22  fact that New York City Parks Department and Local

         23  508 does not use these standards jeopardizes not

         24  only the competence of New York City lifeguards, but

         25  also public safety.

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 Not enough is being done to train the

          3  public. Commissioner Adrian Benepe himself wrote in

          4  an article in his pledge to the Rockaways in a local

          5  Rockaway paper about the many programs the Parks

          6  Department has, including the Learn To Swim and the

          7  Swim To Safety Program in partnership with DOE.

          8  Ironically, there is not one of these programs

          9  anywhere in the Rockaway Peninsula, a Peninsula

         10  surrounded by water with no outreach to any part of

         11  the Rockaway community.

         12                 We need to do more to establish

         13  public swim programs, even if it means establishing

         14  our own programs right on our own beaches.

         15                 Shortage of lifeguards. According to

         16  the Parks Department in Local 508 there is a drastic

         17  shortage of lifeguards. In the past year, Local 508

         18  said they would not put part-time lifeguards on the

         19  beaches as a principle. For the past seven years

         20  there have been many part-time lifeguards on

         21  Rockaway beaches from Memorial Day to 4th of July,

         22  at which time they are required to resign to let

         23  full-time lifeguards take over.

         24                 If lifeguards are required to resign,

         25  how can there be a shortage of lifeguards? Let's set
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          2  the record straight, openly agree to hire full and

          3  part-time lifeguards, and have plenty of lifeguards

          4  for all New York City beaches.

          5                 Location of lifeguards makes it not

          6  seem like a big issue but it certainly is in the

          7  Rockaways. Lifeguards should be put on beaches that

          8  are most crowded in accordance with the density and

          9  population that lives in a specific area, but they

         10  are not.

         11                 Some areas have long stretches of the

         12  Rockaway Peninsula where there are lifeguards for

         13  every 100 yards, while other areas have no

         14  lifeguards for miles of open waterfront.

         15                 I put the 2000 census data statistics

         16  there to show you there is no coincidence that the

         17  areas with few or no chairs have more than 98

         18  percent of the population minorities, and yet in the

         19  past ten years almost all the people who have

         20  drowned off the Rockaways have been minorities. The

         21  Parks Department is not assigning lifeguards to

         22  stations nearly enough as they do more affluent

         23  communities, and this is an issue of environmental

         24  justice.

         25                 I don't know that I have time to
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          2  complete this, but I have my testimony and if the

          3  Committee could please address many of these issues

          4  with the Parks Department and the Lifeguard Union,

          5  that would be great.

          6                 MR. MUNDY: Dan Mundy, Sr. Community

          7  Board 14. Good morning, Chairman Foster and members

          8  of the Committee. My name is Dan Mundy, Sr., and I'm

          9  the Chairperson of Community Board No. 14's Parks,

         10  Safety and Environmental Committees.  I thank you

         11  for the opportunity to present testimonies on these

         12  most important issues, which affect not only the

         13  millions of people who frequent New York City's

         14  beaches and pools, but also the safety of our

         15  lifeguards who protect those people.

         16                 I want to give you some past history.

         17  The New York City Department of Parks and Recreation

         18  operates one of the biggest lifeguard programs in

         19  the country, employing 800 to 1,000 beach and pool

         20  lifeguards each summer.

         21                 A preliminary investigation conducted

         22  pursuant to New York City Charter Section 24(G) has

         23  indicated serious deficiencies in the management of

         24  this program and in the way lifeguards are

         25  recruited, trained, certified and supervised.
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          2                 Specifically the Public Advocate has

          3  received complaints about favoritism and hiring, and

          4  promotion, inadequate supervision, inadequate

          5  lifeguard practices and procedures, poor record

          6  keeping and potential safety lapses.

          7                 The Complaint Center on Parks

          8  Coordinator Peter Stein, the principal manager of

          9  the program. What I have just read to you is a quote

         10  from page one of the summary of the preliminary

         11  investigation conducted by Mark Green in 1994.

         12                 The report addresses issues which go

         13  back way into the middle of 1980s. I don't have time

         14  to read the entire report, so I'll enter it as part

         15  of the record.

         16                 Most recent history indicates that

         17  during the winter of 2005 and spring of 2006,

         18  Community Board No. 14 began receiving complaints

         19  from individuals who were going through the

         20  Department of Education and Department of Parks and

         21  Recreation Testing Program. To address these

         22  allegations, an ad hoc beach committee was formed,

         23  consisting of members of community board's Parks and

         24  Safety Committee, as well as other community

         25  individuals who has experience and expertise in
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          2  these matters, and I was appointed Chairperson.

          3                 I will now quote a paragraph in the

          4  October 10th, 2007 report from the ad hoc committee

          5  to the Parks and Safety Committee.

          6                 The Preliminary Research conducted by

          7  the Ad Hoc Lifeguard Beach and Safety Committee

          8  through its open public hearings has revealed that

          9  current lifeguard hiring practice, along with the

         10  training, testing and qualifying program has been a

         11  closed door, clandestine operation, filled with

         12  political patronage, harassment and corruption and

         13  must be changed.

         14                 The Committee was inundated with

         15  countless negative feedback from individuals who had

         16  gone through the DPR training and testing program.

         17  They insisted that the City immediately address and

         18  get proper attention to these priorities.

         19                 This sounds very similar to what is

         20  in the Mark Green report from 14 years ago. This

         21  report, with recommendations, was adopted by the

         22  community board and forwarded to the Department of

         23  Parks and Recreation, and I'll also enter this into

         24  the record as the full report.

         25                 On November 28th, 2006, our Committee
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          2  met with you and your Committee, Ms. Foster, and you

          3  heard our concerns and requests to hold oversight

          4  hearings on the Lifeguard Program.

          5                 We met again in Speaker Quinn's

          6  office on March 23rd, 2007, and although we were led

          7  to believe that important changes would occur before

          8  the testing phase started, we're very disappointed

          9  and disillusioned that these first steps were not

         10  put into place.

         11                 I would just like to give you my

         12  recommendations. I strongly urge the Committee to

         13  accept the recommendations from the Community Board.

         14  I realize that it is difficult to make changes in an

         15  institution that has been there for 30 years, but

         16  the two most important steps are, number one, that

         17  in order to provide that there is no harassment and

         18  that we do have transparency, that an independent

         19  monitor is the place of all testing and so that they

         20  can verify, and that number two, the digital

         21  competitive clock which we talked about with this

         22  person's last year is used to test each and every

         23  candidate in a fair and equal manner from this

         24  moment on.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Just

          3  for clarification purposes, you had a meeting with

          4  me. It wasn't a Committee meeting, because Committee

          5  members weren't there and we don't technically hold

          6  off-site meetings.

          7                 Do we have any questions?

          8                 Council Member Addabbo.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Just

         10  concluding, I'd like to thank all of these

         11  individuals for their efforts in regards to parks,

         12  but singling out Dan Mundy, I think he has done a

         13  phenomenal job with Community Board 14 at our

         14  committee in bringing a lot of issues to light,

         15  issues that still need to be worked on, but, again,

         16  thank you for all the work that you've done as a

         17  volunteer with regards to this issue.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 MR. MUNDY: And likewise, Joe, you've

         20  always been receptive to my phone calls and whatnot,

         21  so I thank you very much for your cooperation, as

         22  well as the cooperation of all of the members of the

         23  Committee who are sitting here today listening to

         24  this. Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Our next panel consists of Janet

          4  Fash, Linda Ruscillo. Did I say that correctly or

          5  not?

          6                 MS. RUSCILLO: Ruscillo.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Ruscillo.

          8                 And Joe Hortigan?

          9                 MR. HARTIGAN: Close enough.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Hartigan? Okay,

         11  close enough.

         12                 MR. HARTIGAN: Hartigan.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Hartigan. Oh,

         14  that's an A?

         15                 MR. HARTIGAN: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Oh. Looked like

         17  an O.

         18                 When the light is off, the mic is on.

         19                 MS. FASH: All right. It's on now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.

         21                 MS. FASH: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It got me

         23  confused.

         24                 MS. FASH: Good morning. My name is

         25  Janet Fash. I am Chief Lifeguard for the New York
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          2  City Department of Parks and Recreation, and I am a

          3  teacher for the Department of Education. For the

          4  past 28 years I have had an exemplary record as a

          5  lifeguard and chief lifeguard.

          6                 I am here to speak out about the

          7  gross mismanagement of the New York City Lifeguard

          8  School, and how it's recruitment, training and

          9  testing is broken and has been for quite some time.

         10                 The way the Lifeguard Program is

         11  administered presently is outdated for many reasons,

         12  and as such it does not even meet the minimal

         13  national standard for open water lifeguarding, as

         14  set by the United States Lifesaving Association.

         15                 I am requesting due process and

         16  protection under the Whistle-blower Law at this

         17  meeting right now. I hold in my hand the Open Water

         18  Curriculum Base Manual. Presently the City of New

         19  York does not even give a manual out to its

         20  lifeguards. I have received more education and

         21  training from the YMCA and the American Red Cross,

         22  as well as the USLA manual than I ever received from

         23  the City of New York's Department of Parks and

         24  Recreation Lifeguard School.

         25                 I am speaking out about these
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          2  problems because some of their standard operating

          3  procedures are putting the public, as well as the

          4  lifeguards in grave danger. This is not the first

          5  City Council hearing. You've heard that before.

          6  Today I submit this statement for the record,

          7  regarding the issues that continue today and have

          8  not been adequately addressed through oversight.

          9                 Public safety is my primary concern.

         10  This is a labor issue, only so far in the way it

         11  affects public safety. It is my hope that

         12  appropriate action will be taken by the Committee to

         13  establish findings of fact and provide

         14  recommendations that will bring about needed change.

         15                 I would hope someone on the Committee

         16  would move to make a motion requesting that the

         17  employers, either through the Parks Department or

         18  the Mayor's Office file a petition with the Office

         19  of Collective Bargaining to reclassify certain

         20  lifeguard titles.

         21                 In addition to the lack of proper

         22  training, the testing of candidates is corrupt, and

         23  what the end result is, is over the years I have

         24  been sent some candidates that could not swim out in

         25  the ocean to effect a rescue. This naturally puts my
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          2  lifeguards and the public in danger.

          3                 Because of my outspokenness on the

          4  dangerous practices, putting the public and the

          5  lifeguard safety in jeopardy, last summer the area

          6  that I supervised was not given the amount of

          7  lifeguards, never mind training, to effectively

          8  safeguard the public.

          9                 Over the last 20 years, each summer I

         10  had on average 25 to 36 assigned to my lifeguard

         11  station. This past summer, on a regular basis, I had

         12  on average 12 lifeguards, not the amount needed to

         13  safeguard the public.

         14                 Young lifeguards that wanted to work

         15  in my busy section were basically told "you don't

         16  want to go to Beach 97th Street." I was ostracized

         17  by my colleagues and my lifeguards suffered the same

         18  ridicule and mocking from lifeguards working in

         19  other areas.

         20                 It toughened us, but unfortunately

         21  also put the public at a greater risk. This is

         22  another example of flagrant abuse of power. When you

         23  put power in the hands of a few people, the managers

         24  run the union as well as the program, this is what

         25  you get.
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          2                 Evidently a beach safety plan was

          3  created and submitted to the Department of Health.

          4  It is a plan, by the way, that was drawn up and was

          5  neither given to the lifeguards nor the chief

          6  lifeguards to implement and train the lifeguards

          7  with.

          8                 The first time I saw the entire

          9  document is when the Assemblywoman's office obtained

         10  it through a FOIL request. Training and input from

         11  the lifeguards in regard to this important document

         12  was never implemented.

         13                 For most of us lifeguards, this is a

         14  90-day job and we love it. The managers have at

         15  least 275 days to prepare for our season. They

         16  failed to do the job because they wear two hats,

         17  bosses of two locals in the 100,000 member DC 37

         18  union, and they have the managers of the Water

         19  Safety Program. The program and the public suffer.

         20                 The testing of the candidates is

         21  corrupt. In Nassau County, about 20 years ago, they

         22  yanked the lifeguard testing away from

         23  municipalities and beach clubs to end favoritism and

         24  corruption.

         25                 Presently Nassau County Department of
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          2  Health is in charge of administering the test. They

          3  have per diem examiners who administer the test.

          4  Depending on the initial time of a 50-yard test, the

          5  lifeguard gets a laminated card that permits them to

          6  work a pool, a bay or an ocean. The lifeguard can

          7  then apply for a job in any of the municipalities.

          8  The American Red Cross is required of all

          9  applicants, and the American Red Cross solved their

         10  problem of people giving out cards by appointing an

         11  oversight committee and they visit training

         12  locations.

         13                 New York City needs to make these

         14  changes. I do hope City government can effect the

         15  necessary changes to ensure public safety and

         16  increase the professionalism of the New York City

         17  Lifeguard program.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Madam Chair,

         19  given --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Can you wait til

         21  I finish the panel?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I

         23  wasn't going to ask a question. I was going to

         24  suggest that in light of the courageous testimony by

         25  someone who really knows the program, I would like
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          2  her to at least be able to state the proposals.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We all have a

          4  copy of her testimony, which I hope we will all

          5  read. And it is already part of the record. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I'm in the

          8  audience, I didn't get it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 Next, please.

         11                 If you'd like copies of the

         12  testimony, if you'd get up and walk, they're over

         13  there.

         14                 MS. RUSCILLO: Good morning,

         15  Chairwoman Foster and Council members, as well as

         16  all the audience that's here. My name is Linda

         17  Ruscillo. I'm a community activist and the

         18  corresponding secretary of 100 Precinct Community

         19  Council. I live in 124th Street in Rockaway Park. I

         20  am speaking for myself and my husband Dan Ruscillo,

         21  President of the Council, who is unable to be here

         22  today.

         23                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         24  address the important issues on beach safety, beach

         25  closings, and the management or mismanagement of the
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          2  current Lifeguard Program.

          3                 Our primary concern is the safety for

          4  all who take pleasure in the enjoyment of our

          5  wonderful swimming season in the Rockaways.

          6                 Unfortunately, over the recent years

          7  many areas on our Rockaway beaches are red flagged,

          8  and therefore closed to all swimmers.

          9                 The Parks Department, riding their

         10  vehicles on the sand, are constantly ordering people

         11  away from the water. Even those who may only be

         12  ankle deep in the surf.

         13                 This continuing situation is

         14  detrimental to the quality of life, and enjoyment of

         15  a hot sun-filled summer day in Rockaway.

         16                 Safety is a constant worry. The

         17  distance between on-duty lifeguards is expensive.

         18  Even on crowded weekends, this distance may be as

         19  far as a six-block span or worse.

         20                 Last summer the situation affected

         21  lifeguards in the rescue of a swimmer in trouble.

         22  The lifeguards were in need of other lifeguards who

         23  had to run those six blocks before plunging into the

         24  ocean, in order to save a life. This type of

         25  procedure is unacceptable for all. These young
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          2  lifeguards are put in a dangerous position that

          3  could result in a tragedy. It may only be a matter

          4  of time.

          5                 I am certain, no one in authority in

          6  our City would ever wish to be in any way

          7  responsible for such a preventable, possible loss of

          8  life.

          9                 Legitimate questions have arisen

         10  regarding the lifeguard program and the testing

         11  process involved. It is well past time to clean up

         12  the lifeguard program. Open the doors and let the

         13  fresh air of honesty and openness prevail.

         14                 As Mayor Bloomberg often comments

         15  "change for our City is good," in my opinion, it is

         16  now time for change. This problem has been ongoing

         17  and as of today unsolved, even though our community

         18  board and local politicians have been diligent in

         19  their effort to improve our lifeguard situation.

         20                 I submit change now take place to

         21  train and test our potential lifeguards fairly and

         22  openly. Perhaps this honest effort will fill our

         23  lifeguard chairs in Rockaway and other lifeguard

         24  chairs throughout the City.

         25                 Thanks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          3                 MS. RUSCILLO: You're welcome.

          4                 MR. HARTIGAN: Joe Hartigan.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: The light needs

          6  to be off.

          7                 There you go.

          8                 MR. HARTIGAN: As a long-time resident

          9  of New York --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm sorry, can

         11  you just say your name for the record again?

         12                 MR. HARTIGAN: My name is Joe

         13  Hartigan. A Rockaway resident, and I was a lifeguard

         14  for 15 years.

         15                 As a life-long resident of New York

         16  City and Rockaway homeowner, who was impacted by the

         17  shortage of lifeguards, I suggest the following

         18  solutions to improve the current staffing dilemma.

         19                 If the City is unsuccessful in

         20  recruiting full-time lifeguards, part-timers should

         21  be hired with the following conditions.

         22                 In order to qualify for part-time

         23  status, one would have to work a minimum of four

         24  years full-time in order to qualify. Part-time

         25  employees will allow full-time staff to take an
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          2  occasional day off without disrupting coverage.

          3                 New York City Parks Department should

          4  consider allowing lifeguards to wear contact lenses

          5  while patrolling the beaches and pools. The National

          6  Park Service, Reese Park, has the policy, which is a

          7  beach adjacent to Rockaway Beach. Open testing.

          8  Allowing spectators, must be established for

          9  candidates. When veteran part-time lifeguards are

         10  working on the beach alongside newer less

         11  experienced lifeguards, their knowledge is

         12  invaluable.

         13                 Note: Because of part-time employment

         14  option, I was given the Jones Beach, as a Jones

         15  Beach lifeguard. I was able to work 15 years total

         16  as a lifeguard - ten years full time and five years

         17  as a part-timer. Jones Beach has had part-time

         18  lifeguards for over 35 years with no problems.

         19                 Due to the increased population of

         20  the Rockaways, as a result of a significant building

         21  program, New York City will definitely need to

         22  increase lifeguard staff. Furthermore, planned

         23  development of Coney Island with the indoor water

         24  park, a proposed water park on Randalls Island,

         25  improvements of Staten Island beaches, you're
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          2  probably going to have to double the lifeguard

          3  staff.

          4                 Each year tolls collected at both the

          5  Cross Bay Bridge and the Marine Parkway Bridge

          6  increased by ten to 15 percent during the summer

          7  months. That money should be used to improve the

          8  beaches.

          9                 In conclusion, I remind the City

         10  Council, New York officials are always looking for

         11  ways to increase tourism. After all, shouldn't we be

         12  asking ourselves, how many US cities can boast at

         13  ten miles of oceanfront? According to the Clean

         14  Beach Council, a non-profit organization, America's

         15  top tourist destination is the beach. They

         16  contribute $640 billion to the U.S. economy. Any

         17  improvement in staffing and hours of operation to

         18  City beaches must be considered.

         19                 And the thing, when Kavanagh spoke,

         20  we have 9 million residents, there are 400,000 kids

         21  enrolled in the CUNY system, and you can't get 1,200

         22  or 1,300 lifeguards? He should be fired.

         23                 There is also a pool at Kingsborough

         24  Community College he didn't mention, there is a pool

         25  at Queensborough, there's a pool at Brooklyn
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          2  College, none of these are used. There's 400,000

          3  kids in the CUNY system, you can't get another 100

          4  kids out of that four? And he spends all this money

          5  on advertising overseas. Give me a break.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Wait. Don't leave

          7  Mr. Hartigan, I think Council Member Koppell has a

          8  question.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I want to

         11  just compliment Janet Fash for her courage in coming

         12  forward. I know how difficult it is for someone in

         13  the system to take issue. And without necessarily

         14  endorsing your testimony because I'm not as

         15  knowledgeable, obviously, as you are. I think it's

         16  very courageous and you certainly raise some

         17  important concerns.

         18                 With respect to the serious

         19  allegation of favoritism, let me put it that way, is

         20  there any documentation that you're aware of that

         21  backs up the allegations you make other than your

         22  own observations?

         23                 MS. FASH: In regards to --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Can you talk into

         25  the mic, please?
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          2                 MS. FASH: The lifeguards average age

          3  is between 16 and 22, and to be honest, I have a lot

          4  of evidence from them talking to me on the beach,

          5  and when I came out last summer with all of these

          6  experiences I had with the Department of Ed program,

          7  and the New York City lifeguard program, a lot of

          8  lifeguards came up to me and told me their personal

          9  stories, but no one goes forth. You know, I mean

         10  when I began lifeguarding, I know one of my friends

         11  is not going to want to hear me say this, but I

         12  couldn't be a lifeguard for two years, my mother

         13  said, because of what she witnessed on the beach at

         14  that time.

         15                 Yes, there are changes that have

         16  occurred. You know, 30 years ago there were things

         17  going on even then. You know, I'm not saying that

         18  there aren't some improvements that have been made,

         19  but there certainly is a type of feeling. I've never

         20  been in the military, I've never been in the Police

         21  Department, so they compare it to that, but it's

         22  really disrespect. I mean, you know, I had personal

         23  experiences with it, but other people as well. You

         24  know, rumors of females and different comments. You

         25  know, the female lifeguards are intimidated.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Let me ask

          3  you to change your hat a little. I'm not asking you

          4  to be critical, but you suggest a junior lifeguard

          5  program, do you think, given the fact you're in the

          6  education program, could more be done in the schools

          7  to encourage kids to be lifeguards?

          8                 MR. FASH: Absolutely. And I mean,

          9  that was our whole thing with Region 5. A gentleman

         10  in the audience, Hank Iori, came into -- I teach

         11  television production, he came into the TV studio

         12  and he said, I'd love to do something about water

         13  safety, and myself and a tech person put it

         14  together, 112 schools saw it, it went out, and you

         15  know what? That started a fever of educators,

         16  parents and children wanting to know more about it.

         17  Kids were coming up to the lifeguards on the beach

         18  and saying, hey, I know why you blow that whistle

         19  like that. I know about those jetties. And all of

         20  this, we were getting this fever of, hey, this is

         21  working.

         22                 So, I mean, the Board of Ed is a big

         23  institution, and there are pockets of programs.

         24                 I know that the PSLA Commissioner,

         25  Bob Kolinowski, is an ocean lifeguard, and he does
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          2  do a junior lifeguard program with the Big Apple

          3  Game. So, there are pockets of things. I just would

          4  like to see it more expanded with the Department of

          5  Ed. And the junior lifeguard program on the ocean,

          6  if we had a junior lifeguard program, I don't

          7  believe there would be a recruitment problem.

          8  Because that critical age from 13 to 15, when kids

          9  are getting finicky and their parents are almost not

         10  in control of what their decisions are, if you give

         11  them that feeling of being a lifeguard, we love

         12  being a lifeguard, those kids, yeah, they get little

         13  yellow buoys, it's almost revenue producing. They

         14  have to pay tuition to come. It's one day a week.

         15  One hour before tour of duty. And then there's a

         16  couple of competitions in the summer. And that

         17  sparks their interest in lifeguarding, and Jones

         18  Beach has a successful program, they have to turn

         19  kids away. They have over 200 kids involved in the

         20  program now. Long Beach, too. We could have

         21  competitions with those two municipalities. They're

         22  willing.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Do we have a

         24  junior lifeguard program now?

         25                 MS. FASH: We do not have a junior
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          2  lifeguard program now.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So we don't

          4  have a program like Jones Beach.

          5                 MS. FASH: No, and we should. And Long

          6  Beach. And they're willing to help us out to start

          7  it if the Parks Department could commit.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you so

          9  much for your testimony. It's very valuable. Thank

         10  you.

         11                 MS. FASH: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Our last panel is Daniel Mundy, Jr.;

         15  Hank Iori and Bill Brennan.

         16                 MR. MUNDY: Good morning. My name is

         17  Daniel T. Mundy. I'm a lifeguard, and I'm currently

         18  a Battalion Chief at the New York City Fire

         19  Department. Thank you for the opportunity to address

         20  the important issue of the New York City Lifeguard

         21  Program.

         22                 About a year ago I was appointed to

         23  Community Board 14's Advisory Committee on Lifeguard

         24  Issues and Beach Safety. This committee initially

         25  was formed to investigate the numerous complaints
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          2  received from parents of children who claimed that

          3  they were subject to abusive language, hostile

          4  behavior and numerous testing regularities from

          5  Parks testing administrators, as well as from the

          6  complaints of the beach-goers who spoke of beaches

          7  closed on a regular basis.

          8                 As we progressed, it became obvious

          9  to the entire committee that it was much more of a

         10  problem with a larger history than we had known.

         11                 Indeed, while many of our complaints

         12  were from the present, we had persons drive from

         13  other states to attend our open meetings and speak

         14  of their attempts to effect changes on these issues

         15  many years ago.

         16                 They produce complaint documents sent

         17  to previous parks commissioners, which were never

         18  acted upon. They all spoke of an air in difference

         19  from the Parks officials and a total lack of

         20  cooperation.

         21                 We came away with a picture of a

         22  small department within a large agency that seemed

         23  to have no oversight, and more under the control of

         24  the union than the Parks Department.

         25                 This is correctly described as a
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          2  public safety issue. When people go to the beach,

          3  they look to the lifeguard as the first responders

          4  of the beach. They count on them to come to their

          5  aid should a need arise.

          6                 While we know that many of our

          7  lifeguards are well qualified and have earned their

          8  positions, these same lifeguards would often tell us

          9  to our committee in private what they feared to say

         10  in public, that the closed-door testing allows

         11  unqualified applicants who are in good favor of the

         12  test administrators to pass, and the two common

         13  concerns from lifeguards we heard were: 1) that

         14  there would times that they would enter the rough

         15  surf to effect their rescue and not have a qualified

         16  partner. A partner, but not a qualified partner to

         17  assist them; and 2) that the shortage of lifeguards

         18  left them at times with the lack of resources to

         19  effect a rescue in a safe manner.

         20                 We have seen this City go overseas to

         21  hire lifeguards as we are told that the applicant

         22  pool in our City is dry.

         23                 However, the real reason for the lack

         24  of lifeguards lies in the mismanagement of the Parks

         25  Department. We are told that the only location that
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          2  final testing can be done is the 59th Street pool.

          3  The pool at this location is not a competitive pool,

          4  it is in fact a recreational pool. No competitive

          5  races anywhere in the City or the State, for that

          6  matter, are held in this type of pool.

          7                 The changes we sought to bring to the

          8  testing procedures, mainly some form of

          9  transparency, were met with extreme resistance from

         10  the union. As we interviewed current lifeguards and

         11  lifeguard supervisors as to why they felt there was

         12  such an opposition to opening up the testing, we

         13  received a uniformed answer from them, and that was

         14  this: That the sole reason for the testing being

         15  done behind, exclusively behind the locked doors of

         16  the 59th Street pool, with no stop clocks on the

         17  walls and no applicants allowed to bring in a

         18  stopwatch or for that matter even to inquire as to

         19  what their time was, was to ensure that the current

         20  union's regimes continued control. It was their

         21  opinion stated over and over again that the current

         22  union President, Mr. Stein, had maintained control

         23  of this union for decades, due to the fact that any

         24  perceived opposition could be eliminated through the

         25  testing process, as every lifeguard must re-qualify
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          2  each year.

          3                 What goes on behind the locked doors

          4  of the 59th Street pool is much larger than just the

          5  ability to bully and abuse the young boy and girl

          6  applicants who mostly are 16 years old, it is the

          7  instrument for control of the lifeguard and

          8  supervisors union. This is what we were told from

          9  numerous sources as we conducted our interview.

         10                 While they all expressed the hope

         11  that we could effect some change, all were too

         12  concerned to speak out, as once again they pointed

         13  out that they would have to retake the test next

         14  year, and regardless of how well they performed,

         15  with the doors locked to any monitors and no clocks

         16  available, they would be at the mercy of the test

         17  administrators, most who sit on the union board.

         18                 Our committee has worked very hard to

         19  produce our report which highlights recommendations,

         20  and here they are:

         21                 - testing in every borough, at public

         22  schools open to the public in the same manner that

         23  gateway and national tests are held. It's what the

         24  feds do and it works fine.

         25                 - independent monitors at all sites.
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          2                 - discontinue the use of the 59th

          3  Street pool.

          4                 - proper stop clocks available at all

          5  test locations; and

          6                 - start a junior lifeguard program

          7  immediately for this summer.

          8                 In closing, I would like to thank the

          9  Committee for the opportunity and hope that after

         10  decades of complaints, investigations and hearings

         11  such as this, that finally we will see changes to a

         12  system that consistently has proven itself not up to

         13  the task it is charged with, most notably, keeping

         14  our beaches open and safe and staffed with

         15  competent, qualified personnel. Public safety

         16  demands no less.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18                 MR. IORI: Hank Iori. Thank you,

         19  Chairwoman Foster and members of the Committee for

         20  allowing me to speak. My name is Hank Iori. I'm a

         21  retired educator in the New York City Department of

         22  Education.

         23                 I serve for 36 years with the

         24  Department of Education. I was an administrator in

         25  Region 5. I coordinate the Lifeguard Development
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          2  Program in Region 5 in the Fall of 2005. Based on my

          3  firsthand experience with the Department of Parks

          4  and Recreation and Lifeguard Training Program, I

          5  felt compelled to come here today.

          6                 The Department of Parks and

          7  Recreations' Lifeguard Training Program needs to be

          8  completely revamped. The current leadership needs to

          9  be removed. The chronic lifeguard shortages

         10  year-after-year, the lack of accountability, and

         11  willingness to provide adequate services to the

         12  public are clear evidence that they have failed to

         13  do their job.

         14                 Running the program with a 1950

         15  mentality just doesn't work in today's world. The

         16  program's focus needs to be provided, quality

         17  services for the residents of the City. We need the

         18  best qualified lifeguards covering the pools and

         19  beaches. Without that, many lives are put at risk.

         20                 Currently the Lifeguard Training

         21  Program is run as a private enterprise with a focus

         22  on protecting a few individuals ensconced for many

         23  years at the top. Their practices have been in

         24  question for many years.

         25                 In 1994, a report by Mark Green, the
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          2  Public Advocate for the City of New York, cited the

          3  Department of Parks and Recreation Lifeguard

          4  Training Program. Some of the issues cited then

          5  still exist today, and Dan Mundy has mentioned quite

          6  a number of these, and you can see from this list:

          7  Neglect (sic) administration and inadequate

          8  training.; failing to cooperate; widespread

          9  favoritism. All of this is the same. Not much has

         10  changed over the years.

         11                 September of 2006 many residents of

         12  the Rockaway community were angered by the Parks

         13  Department's treatment of individuals who came

         14  through their program. Jonathan Gaska, District

         15  Manager of Community Board 14, wrote to Liam

         16  Kavanagh, Deputy Commissioner of Operations, asking

         17  for answers to 12 questions that were developed by

         18  an ad hoc lifeguard beach committee for Board 14,

         19  and you have that attached to this.

         20                 To this day, those questions have

         21  never been answered. The Department of Parks and

         22  recreation has not been forthright with information

         23  to the Rockaway community.

         24                 Community Board 14 ad hoc committee

         25  in October of 2006 developed recommendations for
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          2  Lifeguard and Beach Operation Improvements. These

          3  recommendations were widely distributed to the Parks

          4  Department and all elected officials. Again the

          5  community was ignored by the Parks Department. No

          6  attempt was made to meet with the ad hoc committee

          7  to discuss their recommendations.

          8                 It is really inconceivable in our

          9  democracy that the Parks Department could ignore a

         10  request from a community board representing 130,000

         11  residents of the Rockaways. It is disrespectful and

         12  insulting to the citizens of the Rockaways who have

         13  made an effort to work collaboratively with the

         14  Department of Parks.

         15                 The ghost management of the Lifeguard

         16  Training Program refuses to discuss with anyone

         17  their operation of the program. They are masters of

         18  deceit, hiding behind the Department of Parks and

         19  Recreation and DC 37. They are afraid that in the

         20  light of day their inept management skills will be

         21  clearly uncovered.

         22                 In closing, I ask that all of you on

         23  the City Parks Committee see that corrective actions

         24  be taken immediately.

         25                 Simply put, the citizens of New York
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          2  deserve better.

          3                 MR. BRENNAN: My name is Bill Brennan.

          4  I served as a New York City Lifeguard from 1984

          5  through 1987 at Sunset Park Pool and in Coney

          6  Island.

          7                 And in 1987 I wrote a letter to the

          8  inspector general regarding a Mr. Peter Stein,

          9  serving in the dual capacity as President of the

         10  Union and also as a grand high exalted mystic ruler

         11  of all lifeguards, 'cause his title was nebulous at

         12  the time, he just seemed to run everything. I got a

         13  letter from Kenneth Convoy, assigning the matter to

         14  Ed Glavey, and promptly heard nothing else

         15  thereafter.

         16                 I went on to become a career level

         17  firefighter, I'm an Emergency Medical Technician,

         18  I'm a Hazardous Materials Technician, an Arson

         19  Investigator and have been involved in public safety

         20  since 1984 when I was a lifeguard. In all of my

         21  experience, I have never seen anything as absurd as

         22  what's going on right now.

         23                 I came in 1994 and testified about my

         24  experience, and action was going to be taken. No

         25  action was taken.
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          2                 In 1998 there was a purported

          3  shortage of lifeguards and I think it was a planned

          4  shortage of lifeguards, and New York City took it

          5  upon itself to run an accelerated two-week course to

          6  try and get lifeguards on the beach and open some

          7  beaches. So, I went down and I attended that. You

          8  want to talk about retaliation, harassment? I

          9  experienced it on a regular basis.

         10                 I wrote a letter after every single

         11  class that I went to, documenting the level of

         12  harassment that I suffered at the hands of Mr.

         13  Richard Share, and the other members of the

         14  lifeguard training school. I had individuals

         15  threaten me. I had a man that was teaching the class

         16  wearing a shirt with a hand sticking up that said

         17  "underwater no one can hear you scream." I had this

         18  gentleman go out and solicit the services of parking

         19  enforcement agents and have my car towed away, and I

         20  documented that in a letter, two-page letter.

         21  Lieutenant Cordell of the Parking Enforcement

         22  Agency, whatever they're called now, the DOT, didn't

         23  want to tow my vehicle, and he sat there for 45

         24  minutes berating her until my vehicle was towed.

         25  This happened.
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          2                 Now, a little while ago Chief Fash

          3  testified that after she came forward publicly her

          4  area of responsibility suffered a 50 percent loss in

          5  personnel. Didn't raise an eyebrow. Nobody seems to

          6  care. She's on a busy section of Rockaway Beach, she

          7  suffers a 50 percent reduction in manpower, and is

          8  ostracized by her co-workers. Nothing is being done

          9  about it.

         10                 Well, I think something has got to be

         11  done about it, and something has got to be done

         12  soon.

         13                 In 1998 when I went back to go

         14  through that accelerated course, every single day I

         15  was met with hostility, belligerence, threats,

         16  intimidation, harassment. Nothing was done. I have

         17  the letters here that I wrote to Commissioner Stern,

         18  every single day. And he can't say he didn't get

         19  them, because I took it upon myself to hand-deliver

         20  them. Five days into the course, they decided to

         21  cancel the class, rather than hire me. And I think

         22  that was another absurd squandering of my time.

         23                 Now, the Councilman made an excellent

         24  suggestion, and I don't understand. When the Police

         25  Department requires you, you go to the Police
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          2  Academy, they pay you. When the Fire Department

          3  requires you to go to the Fire Academy, they pay

          4  you. When lifeguards require you to go to their

          5  training school, they don't pay you. If you're not

          6  going to pay me for my time this summer when I come

          7  back, then you're violating some sort of state wage

          8  and hour law or federal fair labor standards act,

          9  because this is a requirement, a predicate to

         10  employment, which means under the law you have to do

         11  something.

         12                 Now, I have one suggestion for you

         13  and one suggestion only. Nobody serving in the title

         14  of Chief Lifeguard, Borough Coordinator, or

         15  Lieutenant Lifeguard has a property interest in

         16  their position. They're not civil service employees.

         17  You have the absolute discretion to do what you will

         18  with these people. Now, there is no such thing as a

         19  Lieutenant Lifeguard, there is no such thing as a

         20  Borough Coordinator, each of these titles are

         21  details from the rank of Chief.

         22                 Now, if Mr. Kavanagh had been sworn

         23  in under oath, he would have committed perjury when

         24  he said promotions are made by seniority, because

         25  they're not. Because to go from a lifeguard to a
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          2  Lieutenant Lifeguard, you become a Chief Lifeguard

          3  and then you get detailed downward. This is a

          4  Byzantine scheme that wouldn't work in Iraq and it

          5  shouldn't be tolerated in the City of New York.

          6                 Now, a Borough Coordinator detailed

          7  to that title from the lower rank of chief has no

          8  vested interest the job. So, how did he get

          9  detailed, and who is responsible for making that

         10  detail? A detail is supposed to be a temporary

         11  position.

         12                 Now, if this was a constitutional

         13  office under civil service, there would be a test

         14  for that. There isn't. Seniority isn't a factor.

         15  It's who you know, and it's got to stop.

         16                 So, the complaints have come against

         17  Richard Share and Peter Stein and Leo Perlmutter and

         18  Manhavi Rodriguez, the same cast of characters from

         19  20 years ago. The same people who harassed me 20

         20  years ago are harassing 16 year olds. I'm not 16

         21  anymore. I'm going to go through the class again.

         22  Ms. Fash asked for your protection, I'm asking you

         23  for your protection. I asked for your protection in

         24  1998, I didn't get it. Well, this time if I don't

         25  get it, there is going to be serious consequences to
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          2  the coffers of the City of New York, because I'm now

          3  on record that I'm going to take this course. I

          4  submit to you that I am faster and stronger in the

          5  water than many of the lifeguards on the beach

          6  today. If I have a problem, it's on the record now

          7  that I asked for your protection on the

          8  Whistleblower Law. I would appreciate it if the

          9  people who have been detailed to Borough Coordinator

         10  and Lifeguard Coordinator, the consistent source of

         11  a problem, they don't have a property interest, that

         12  they be detailed to the lower rank of Chief and

         13  replaced with Chiefs who have a record of not

         14  retaliating against people, not harassing people,

         15  and not dividing the work group for their own

         16  personal gain.

         17                 Thank you for your time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         19                 Council Member Addabbo.

         20                 Oh, no questions.

         21                 Council Member Sears.

         22                 Council Member Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         24  First of all, I'm not going to give you a legal

         25  opinion, though I'm a lawyer, and I'm not sure to
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          2  tell you the truth that we can give you any

          3  protection, but the law gives you certain

          4  protection. So, I just want to make that clear,

          5  because I'm not sure that we, Madam Chair, could

          6  give any protection, because you're saying you give

          7  us protection.

          8                 I certainly personally, both as a

          9  member of the Council and as a lawyer, will try and

         10  be helpful to you, but I'm not going to represent

         11  you. You'll have to get independent representation.

         12  But I wanted to make it clear that I don't think we

         13  have the power to give you protection. The law gives

         14  you protection as a whistleblower. There is

         15  protection under the law.

         16                 And I do appreciate your coming

         17  forward, and I would appreciate getting copies of

         18  that correspondence that you mentioned, and

         19  certainly would appreciate, and I'm sure the Chair

         20  as well, any further information about what might

         21  happen to you, since you're going through this

         22  process again. And I can assure you that I, as a

         23  member here, am going to take this up with the

         24  Administration.

         25                 MR. BRENNAN: I appreciate that. And
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          2  the protection that I'm asking for at the moment is

          3  because I've already suffered the harassment and

          4  retaliation, that the individuals responsible not

          5  just for harassing me and retaliating against me, be

          6  detailed downward. You are the final policy-makers

          7  for the City of New York.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, the

          9  Mayor.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, I was just

         11  going to say, I will strongly encourage you, as well

         12  as the ad hoc committee, which I appreciate the

         13  recommendations, with the part dealing with

         14  supervision and all that, the contract with the

         15  union is negotiated with the Mayor, and we don't

         16  have ultimate authority. So, many of the complaints

         17  that were in '94 and '98 and keep coming up that

         18  have to do with the supervision and the union aspect

         19  does not fall under our purview, meaning we don't

         20  negotiate the contract. So, I would encourage you,

         21  as well as the ad hoc committee, and I don't know if

         22  you've already done that, to make sure those

         23  concerns are mentioned to the Mayor going forward.

         24                 MR. BRENNAN: If you are the

         25  legislative body for the City of New York, and you
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          2  do have the ability to pass local law, you could

          3  make an ordinance or statute or whatever the

          4  terminology is for when you pass these City Council

          5  resolutions, removing everyone from the detailed

          6  titles, reassigning them to Chief, and creating some

          7  sort of merit and fitness-based examination for the

          8  promotion. You can do that. I mean, you have the

          9  authority to pass law, and he can veto it if he

         10  wants, but then that would be on him.

         11                 I'm suggesting that, look, we've hit

         12  dead-ends for 20 years now, and everybody points to

         13  somebody else to go to. Mr. Kavanagh certainly isn't

         14  going to be any help, the Commissioner hasn't been

         15  any help, the Mayor I don't anticipate is going to

         16  be any help, and I'm just saying, I'm here now. And

         17  with the things that you can do in the affirmative,

         18  should be done.

         19                 I mean, if there is a local law that

         20  you can pass that says anyone who has received more

         21  than 15 complaints of demeanor violations and

         22  belligerence is not fit to be detailed to a higher

         23  rank, you can do that. And then if they violate

         24  that, then they do that at their own peril, but

         25  they're violating a municipal ordinance or whatever
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          2  your terminology is. But to say that we can't do

          3  anything because it's in the contract, look, the

          4  contract says two things --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, I think

          6  that we have to understand, and I understand that

          7  it's the same way that when we're dealing with

          8  contracts in the Fire Department, there are many

          9  things that we have a concern with the Fire

         10  Department that it doesn't fall under our

         11  jurisdiction because their union issue is

         12  negotiated. And I appreciate your testimony, and I

         13  actually made a note to the Counsel here for him to

         14  do investigation to see where we can come in to

         15  start alleviating these issues when we actually have

         16  jurisdiction, and, number one, making sure it's not

         17  union negotiating issues, and number two, it's not

         18  something that has to come from the State.

         19                 So, I have made a note so that going

         20  forward as much as possible we can alleviate this,

         21  because as you said it's been going on for years and

         22  years and the same cast of characters, and, you

         23  know, if it keeps looking like a duck, at some point

         24  we've got to call it a duck.

         25                 MR. BRENNAN: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So, thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Madam Chair?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes. Wait, no,

          6  you can't talk from the Chair.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Excuse me.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Go ahead.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I just wanted

         10  to make a comment, that New York City has the

         11  strongest Whistleblowing Law it's ever had. I was

         12  Chair of the Ethics Committee, it came out of that

         13  Committee. It took almost a year to do it. And the

         14  reason it was passed unanimously and supported by

         15  the Administration was it took that long to develop

         16  exactly some of the things you're talking about.

         17  That law will unfold just some of the issues. So, it

         18  isn't where we protect you in this Committee, or

         19  even propose some of the legislation or resolution,

         20  but that Whistleblowing Law certainly has in place

         21  passed unanimously by this Council. So, you should

         22  not overlook that vehicle in which you have.

         23                 MR. BRENNAN: I appreciate that. And I

         24  know that a Lieutenant Lifeguard by the name of

         25  Joseph McManus invoked the New York City
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          2  Whistleblower Law and in retaliation for that he had

          3  charges backdated against him two years earlier than

          4  the date he invoked the Whistleblowing Law.

          5                 So, you know, it's just interesting

          6  that there is always a loophole for these

          7  individuals to slide through. And for them to go

          8  back three years and bring charges against somebody

          9  who was invoking the Whistleblower Law because he

         10  ran for union office, it's problematic. And I know

         11  the laws are on the books, and frankly, I wouldn't

         12  rely on a municipal Whistleblower Law, I would rely

         13  on the First Amendment, and you know, Minell Claims

         14  in 1983 and retaliation protections. But I don't

         15  want to do that. I want to go to the beach, work as

         16  a lifeguard, protect people and not be harassed.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It should be that

         18  simple.

         19                 MR. BRENNAN: Do I want to go to

         20  court? It should be. It should be.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, I'm not

         22  saying it tongue and cheek.

         23                 MR. MUNDY: Council Member Sears, I

         24  know you had asked the question earlier of Community

         25  Board, District Manager Jonathan Gaska, and I have a
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          2  quick answer for the question. I was listening to

          3  you.

          4                 The kids love being on the beach.

          5  When they get on the beach, and they're in that

          6  chair, that's not a problem. They enjoy their time

          7  there mostly. Many of them, like myself, I went on

          8  to become a police officer and then a firefighter,

          9  as did Bill and many other people, I would submit to

         10  you that is not the problem. The problem is at the

         11  testing facility at the 59th Street pool. It's been

         12  that problem for 20 years. What goes on behind those

         13  closed doors has been the problem. And I took ten

         14  kids myself, and I trained them for a whole winter.

         15  I trained them for nine months. They thought I was

         16  crazy. I lost half the kids because I trained them

         17  that hard, and when we went down there, we were

         18  subject to, and Joe, Councilman Addabbo, could speak

         19  to this because they were in his program, which was

         20  sabotaged, and Councilman can back me up on this,

         21  because they were in that program which we didn't

         22  realize was not a program that the union wanted to

         23  see succeed. And all ten of them failed. And you

         24  want to know who failed? I'll tell you who failed.

         25  We had a fellow named Mike, Captain of Savarian Swim
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          2  Team. A former swimmer. He swims 4,000 yards a day.

          3  We had a fellow named Steve, who three weeks before

          4  placed third in the City finals for 500 yard race.

          5  Failed the test. When we finally got Mike to repeat

          6  the test and they passed him. Guess what? He

          7  ultimately failed on the brakes and holds, which

          8  were extremely subjective, and he got the message

          9  loud and clear, you're not going to pass.

         10                 I had those kids go in with ipods

         11  because they removed their stopwatches from them,

         12  and these fellows haven't kept up with technology,

         13  so guess what? The ipods have a stopwatch on them,

         14  and I documented the times, and the times of these

         15  kids were passing times, all right? And these

         16  fellows sat there and they didn't even lift up a

         17  stopwatch.

         18                 If you hear the stories, young girls

         19  being cursed at, and told get the "f" out of the

         20  way, who nine months of training, nine months of

         21  going to the pool, four times a night, I would take

         22  these kids out in snow storms. This was in response

         23  to the Mayor's request for people to come out and

         24  try this program, and the Councilman came up with

         25  the money for this program. It was a great program.
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          2  This is the outreach. We need this in the Bronx. We

          3  need this in Brooklyn. Why should a child from the

          4  Bronx have to go to the 59th Street pool, fail, and

          5  then think, well, am I really going to go back down

          6  there again?

          7                 Why can't you have that up in the

          8  Bronx, in Brooklyn and us in Queens? Because we have

          9  a problem. We have the lines of money ready and

         10  available for the 1,200 slots and it's very clear to

         11  everybody going back for 20 years, that the

         12  bottleneck is at that 59th Street pool, and

         13  basically I believe that if we move that, and we got

         14  into this thing like Gateway, National Park, they

         15  test. Talk to the testing administrator there. He's

         16  a former person who worked for the public Parks

         17  Department. As soon as you bring it up he says, I

         18  know the problem you're talking about, how do you

         19  run your test? Talk to this fellow. He's a great

         20  fellow. And what he does is, he says you come right

         21  in and basically it's an open door test. You want to

         22  come in and watch your kid? We encourage that. Just

         23  stand up in the stands and have a good time. You

         24  fail, no problem, good encouragement. We hope you

         25  come back. Remember, he said, our goal is to get
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          2  lifeguards. And that's what we need to do here, and

          3  I'm hoping that this Committee takes upon itself the

          4  possibility of looking into this and addressing it

          5  because we have had no success to date.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 MR. IORI: If I may?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, you may.

         10                 MR. IORI: We ran a problem in two

         11  high schools, and Joe Addabbo was kind enough to

         12  fund it. And in both high schools, John Adams and

         13  Far Rockaway High School, we had 33 in one school

         14  pass the 50 yard exam, okay? And 32 in the other

         15  school that passed the 50 yard exam. Now, Liam

         16  Kavanagh said, the numbers he gave, if you pass that

         17  50 yard, about 90 percent or better pass. Well, at

         18  one school, nobody passed at the end of it. And at

         19  the other, just a small handful passed. And the

         20  message was you shouldn't be in this satellite

         21  program, because they were training the kids at Far

         22  Rockaway and at John Adams, and when it came time to

         23  testing time, they said go down to 59th Street. They

         24  went there, they were segregated. They were put,

         25  this is your group. You failed, you failed, you
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          2  failed, you failed. Well, it just doesn't jive with

          3  what we heard here, 90 percent plus pass if they've

          4  succeeded with the 50 yards in the 35 seconds. So,

          5  something is terribly wrong in the way in which they

          6  conduct business. And what we're saying to this

          7  Committee is please, please, for the sake of this

          8  City, and for the safety of people on the beaches,

          9  look into this.

         10                 Now, you have the perfect right to

         11  tell the Mayor and others when they're currently

         12  negotiating a contract, this is what we're hearing

         13  in this contract, don't blow it on us by settling

         14  for a contract that allows them to continue and do

         15  exactly what they've been doing year after year

         16  after year. There is no reason in the world that we

         17  can't have part-time lifeguards. There are a ton of

         18  people down in the Rockaways that are firefighters,

         19  police officers that have been lifeguards, are well

         20  qualified, be happy to work on weekends and off

         21  days. You can set up a registry, you can contact and

         22  use the technology. Have them on a database that can

         23  be sent out over e-mails and you can get people to

         24  say, yes, I'll come tomorrow, and this is the beach

         25  that you're saying? I'll be there. And have a
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          2  routine that if they don't show up, they're dropped

          3  off the list. If they do, you've got coverage. There

          4  is absolutely no reason in the world to continue the

          5  way it is right now.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 MR. BRENNAN: Just one --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Sure.

         10                 MR. BRENNAN: As a personal

         11  experience, after I wrote that letter in 1987, in

         12  1988, when I went to qualify again, I swam my 22

         13  laps in a heat with three other people that were

         14  taking the test. I finished first. And a man by the

         15  name of Puccerelli said he's got two more to go to

         16  the person that was counting my laps, and the person

         17  that was counting my laps said, no, he's done. And

         18  Puccerelli screamed, do you want to f'n work this

         19  summer? He does two f'n more. And I went and did two

         20  more laps and came in and failed. Now, that happened

         21  to me, I'm here a human being live in person with no

         22  other motive than to make sure this doesn't happen

         23  to anyone else. Because I have an eight year old and

         24  a ten year old, and if you think I would subject

         25  them to these people without being in my presence,
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          2  you're not going to get them. And my kids are good

          3  swimmers too. You're blowing it. You're losing the

          4  opportunity to get good, dedicated people, public

          5  safety-minded people, strong swimmers, because as a

          6  parent I'm not going to let my children be subjected

          7  to that. Because at 16 years old when I was

          8  threatened, intimidated and bullied, I didn't have

          9  the tools to react. It was child abuse. Basically

         10  child abuse. I felt scared about what was going on

         11  down there. And when you have grown men scaring

         12  teenagers, you have to put a stop to it, not just

         13  from a public safety policy, but as an issue of

         14  morality. These people are sick individuals. Sick,

         15  power-crazed control freaks that are way out of

         16  control and there is nobody looking to put the

         17  brakes on them. And I don't know if it' fear, I

         18  don't know what their hold on this City is, but

         19  they're not doing a good job, they're not doing a

         20  good service. They're doing something wrong, and

         21  it's 20 years of doing something wrong. It's time to

         22  stop talking about it and time to start working on

         23  the solutions. I've given you a couple of

         24  suggestions, these details. Whoever is responsible

         25  for detailing these people to the positions they're
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          2  in, detail them right the hell out and be done with

          3  it. That's the shortest route from A to B. Pull

          4  them. They have no right to the job. They didn't

          5  take a test, they are not tenured, they have no

          6  civil service protection, they're detailed. It's in

          7  their contract. They negotiated a contract that said

          8  the Chief Lifeguard is the only position in the

          9  union and a Lieutenant is a detail, and a Borough

         10  Coordinator is a detail. They put that language in

         11  place. So, let them hoist on their own patter, their

         12  language, their contract, before they change that

         13  and make themselves tenured. Do it now before they

         14  -- because they're going to negotiate themselves a

         15  sweetheart deal. You keep saying the contract

         16  prohibits this from being done. The contract

         17  actually enables you to do this. Anybody in

         18  authority can say your detail is over, go back to

         19  your former title. In fact, we're detailing you down

         20  to Lieutenant, and we're bringing some lieutenants

         21  up to Borough Coordinator. That's the contract that

         22  exists now. You can't say the contract precludes you

         23  from taking action. The contract is the weapon upon

         24  which you can use to end this practice, because it

         25  doesn't say anything about tenure. Detail is a
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          2  detail is a detail.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 And Council Member Addabbo, I think

          5  we need to work together to make sure letters are

          6  responded to and going forward that it is done in a

          7  respectful manner.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes. Based on

          9  this hearing, it is a short to do list here, so I

         10  look forward to working with you on it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 There being no more testimony, this

         14  hearing is over.

         15                 (Hearing concluded at 1:05 p.m.)
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